The Rockefeller Foundation–Sponsored Initiative on the Role of the Private Sector in Health Systems in Developing Countries

# Technical partner paper 4

Making Health Markets Work for the Poor: Improving Provider Performance Gerald Bloom Claire Champion Henry Lucas David Peters Hilary Standing

Institute of Development Studies Future Health Systems Consortium



# Making Health Markets Work Better for Poor People: Improving Provider Performance

October 2008

**Gerald Bloom** 

**Claire Champion** 

**Henry Lucas** 

**David Peters** 

**Hilary Standing** 

#### Institute of Development Studies and Future Health Systems Consortium

This report has benefited from the inputs of many different people. Sarah Dry provided invaluable support for the scoping study of current developments. Jamie Cross, Hayley Macgregor, Nirali Shah, and William Brieger undertook reviews of informal providers, and David Bishai and Claire Champion reviewed current understandings and experiences of social franchises. The participants in a consultation at the Geneva Health Forum and the participants at a workshop organized by ICDDR,B and the Institute of Development Studies (IDS)—Making Markets Work Better for Poor People, in Dhaka in August 2008—made many suggestions for strengthening the report. David Leonard, David Bishai, Rob Hitchins, Guy Kegels, Wim van Damme, and Chean Rithy Men provided extremely useful comments on an advanced draft of the report.

The authors acknowledge the scientific support extended by Future Health Systems: Innovations for Equity (a research program consortium of researchers from Johns Hopkins University Bloomberg School of Public Health, USA); IDS, UK; ICDDR,B, Bangladesh; Indian Institute of Health Management Research, India; Chinese Health Economics Institute, China; The Institute of Public Health, Makerere University, Uganda; and University of Ibadan, College of Medicine, Faculty of Public Health, Nigeria. The

# Contents

1. Introduction	. 2
2. Markets, Institutions, and Health Systems	. 5
The limits of markets	. 5
"Path dependency" and institutional change	6
Health systems in low- and middle-income countries	. 7
Figure 1: The vicious circle in rural health services in poor localities of China	, 9
Implications for markets and states	, 9
3. Markets and the Health Knowledge Economy	11
Understanding market systems	12
Figure 2: Conceptualizing market systems	13
Types of markets in health-related goods and services	14
What do institutional arrangements in health market systems do?	16
Toward market order	18
4. Institutional Innovation in Health Care Markets	23
Where innovations arise	23
Entrepreneurship and (market) learning	25
5. Strengthening Health-Related Market Systems	27
Health market systems framework for mapping of interventions	29
6. Learning Approaches to Institution Building	31
Figure 3: Framework for applying systematic learning to health markets	33
Processes that encourage learning and good decision making	34
Appendix 1: Innovations to Improve Provider Performance	37
Appendix 2: Provider Performance and Information and Communication	
Technologies	43
References	52

# 1. Introduction

During the past two decades, there has been a dramatic spread of market relationships in the health sector of many low- and middle-income countries (Mackintosh and Koivusalo 2005). Typically, out-of-pocket payments account for a substantial proportion of total health expenditure, and a large share of health care transactions include some form of cash payment (National Health Accounts 2007). Many countries have pluralistic health systems in which providers of health-related goods and services vary widely, in terms of their practice settings, their type of knowledge and associated training, and their relationship with the legal system (Bloom and Standing 2001).

authors express their appreciation for the financial support provided by the UK Department for International Development (DFID) for the Future Health Systems research program consortium. This document is a product of a project funded by DFID for the benefit of developing countries. The views expressed are not necessarily those of DFID. The policies of some international organizations in supporting strict limits to government expenditure and advocating an increased role for markets in health systems have had some influence. But this phenomenon is more generally associated with the rapid spread of market relationships in many sectors. In some cases, its emergence is linked to failures of state provision of services to meet popular expectations. In other cases, it is associated with a rapid spread of markets with economic growth. The spread of markets has often been much faster than the capacity of the state and other key actors to establish regulatory arrangements to influence their performance. A large proportion of market transactions now take place outside any national legal regulatory framework or in settings where regulatory regimes are poorly implemented or lack clarity. A common feature is the blurring of boundaries between public and private sectors, with staff moving across these boundaries, often informally and sometimes in the course of one day, and users making informal payments for services or drugs at public facilities, or consulting government health workers "privately."

The marketization of health services has created both opportunities and challenges for improving the performance of health systems in relation to poor people. It has produced easier access to drugs and some form of medical advice for those who can pay. There are some examples of excellent market-driven services, but, as Das and colleagues (2008) document, the quality of services that both public and private health workers provide is often flawed. Some of this is due to perverse incentives. It is now widely recognized that governments and other intermediary and non-state organizations can play important roles in altering these incentives and improving the performance of marketized health systems. There is less agreement on what those roles should be in different development contexts and how the institutional arrangements can be constructed for them to play these roles effectively.

Health system analysts have given inadequate attention to strategies for improving the performance of health-related markets in low- and middle-income countries. This partly reflects a normative position that access to health care is a right and that providers of services should not be primarily motivated by financial incentives. In some cases, it reflects a political belief that a stronger acknowledgement of the role of markets in the provision of health-related goods and services could open a floodgate that would enable powerful actors to establish a dominant position, with serious consequences for equity. This has been further complicated by debates about the desirability of allowing the expansion of international health service companies into low- and middle-income countries (Smith 2004; Woodward 2005). However, the spread of market relationships has advanced so far that official policies often have limited relevance to the realities that poor people face when coping with health problems. It is time to find ways to improve the performance of markets for health-related goods and services that acknowledge and start from these realities.

Much analysis of health care markets draws heavily on the experiences of the advanced market economies where there is a much clearer demarcation of the roles of, and boundaries between, the public and private sectors in delivering services. This has led to a tendency to seek models for "working with the private sector" from these countries,

without taking sufficient account of their strong institutional and regulatory arrangements for both market and non-market services (Bloom and Standing 2008). This paper argues for a different approach to policy formulation that bases the assessment of the likely outcome of different reform options on a closer understanding of the realities of the markets that have emerged in developing and transitional economies. It has two main aims: The first is to develop an exploratory framework for understanding how health markets operate in these contexts, using primarily a political economy rather than a public health approach to health systems. The argument here rests on our view that theoretical perspectives grounded in an understanding of the dynamics of markets and their interplay with different contextual conditions offer fresh insights for health systems development. The second is to begin to lay out the implications of these different ways of thinking about health markets for policies and programs. This points us away from standard health policy approaches to planning and regulation and toward questions of knowledge transfer and learning in highly dynamic environments.

The sections that follow present the ideas of the authors and an informal network of health system analysts and innovators. Sections 2, 3, and 4 introduce current thinking about the roles of markets and institutions in health systems, outline a framework for analysis of health systems, present some new developments that have emerged in recent years, and explore sources of institutional innovation in these markets. They draw on previous work by the authors on analytical approaches for understanding the pluralistic health systems that have emerged in many countries,<sup>1</sup> scoping studies carried out by partners of the Future Health Systems Consortium in Nigeria, Uganda, Bangladesh, India, and China,<sup>2</sup> a review of current knowledge on innovations to improve the performance of health-related markets (appendix 1), a review of current knowledge on the applications of information and communications technology to health (appendix 2), and discussions between innovators and researchers at a recent workshop hosted by ICDDR, B in Dhaka. Section 5 presents some key elements of a strategy for making health-related markets work better for the poor, and section 6 concludes with a presentation of learning approaches for improving the performance of health market systems. This is one of a series of background papers commissioned by the Rockefeller Foundation that address different aspects of markets for health-related goods and services in low- and middleincome countries. This paper focuses particularly on innovations for improving provider performance other than through government regulation or the strategic use of the purchasing power of an insurance scheme, which other papers discuss. It explores mechanisms for addressing problems of information asymmetry between provider and client, while noting that the pattern of services provided and the degree to which they meet the needs of the poor are strongly influenced by the specific arrangements for financing and organizing public health services.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See Bloom and Standing (2001 and 2008); Bloom et al. (2008); Lucas (2008); Peters and Muraleedharan (2008); and Peters et al. (2008).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> www.futurehealthsystems.org.

### 2. Markets, Institutions, and Health Systems

Before introducing the main analysis, this section provides a brief background to past and current debates about how health markets function. In particular, we note—and raise some problems with—the dominance of thinking drawn from the experience of the advanced market economies with long histories of regulation.

### The limits of markets

The advanced market economies have created complex institutional arrangements within which state, market, and civil society actors cooperate to translate scientific medical knowledge into widely accessible goods and expert services (Bloom, Standing, and Lloyd 2008). Debates about health system organization, based on a combination of economic theory and historical evidence, have led to a widely held consensus on why markets, in themselves, do not produce efficient or equitable health systems.

The health sector is characterized by a number of well understood "market failures" (Bennett et al. 1997). This paper focuses on those that directly affect the performance of health service providers. Government functions and other formal arrangements have arisen to compensate for these failures. For example, a variety of non-market institutions have developed to prevent possessors of expert knowledge from abusing their power, including professional self-regulation and internalized codes of ethics, public provision of services, government regulation, and tort law. These institutions and mechanisms are also present, to some degree, in many low- and middle-income countries. In addition, markets have capacity for self-regulation on the basis that market share is often protected by demonstrated adherence to rules and standards. Again, institutions to create greater market order are present in low- and middle-income countries, but in many contexts they are largely informal and predominantly local. Health system analysts have paid much less attention to the operation of informal health markets, but there is potentially important learning in terms of mechanisms for enhancing quality.

#### "Market failures" in the health sector

- Health-related services include public goods such as public sewerage and water supply systems, which would be undersupplied if left to the market.
- Services, such as immunization, have positive externalities in that an individual's consumption confers benefits on others so that decisions based only on individual needs are likely to result in suboptimal funding.
- Markets tend to under-insure against major health expenditure because they cannot control costs effectively and there is little incentive for a healthy person to join an insurance scheme.
- Markets may not adequately reflect the greater willingness of the population to finance basic health care than other non-health goods and services.
- Markets can worsen distributive outcomes and hence health inequities.
- Markets for goods and services that embody expert knowledge produce information asymmetry between providers and clients that can make clients vulnerable to abuse of provider power.

# "Path dependency" and institutional change

The experience of the advanced market economies provides useful insights into the problems of health systems in low- and middle-income countries, but it is dangerous to assume that the latter countries will follow a similar path in developing their health systems. The concept of path dependency of technology (David 1985) and institutions (Pierson and Skocpol 2002; Thelen 2003) describes the process by which a small early decision profoundly influences future development because of the increasing returns to institutionalization and the high cost of changing to a different path. The dominant model of health system organization is an example of path dependency: highly regulated professions and pharmaceutical markets reflect the social and economic context and associated institutional decisions within which the first modern health systems were embedded. It is important to keep this in mind when attempting to adapt institutional arrangements from one context to another and when assessing the likely future consequences of reforms.

Institutional arrangements in the health sector are notoriously "sticky" mainly because they reflect the intrinsically political nature of health system reforms. Substantial resistance to change by stakeholder groups must be expected where reforms might threaten their interests and where ideological stances have evolved to justify this resistance (Altenstetter and Buse 2005; Gordon 2005; Rochaix and Wilsford 2005). Pierson (2000) argues that political processes are more path dependent than those mediated by markets, because the latter are more able to correct a false first step through competition between companies and learning by individual ones. During the second half of the 20th century, the right to health care became a highly charged political issue and governments became heavily involved in health financing and service delivery. The high political profile of health may therefore have slowed the rate of institutional change. This could explain why health systems in advanced market economies preserve many aspects of their early 20th-century structure, while other economic and social sectors have altered greatly.

The tendency of health systems to be path dependent has important implications for policy analysts in low- and middle-income countries: First, frameworks for understanding health systems are highly influenced by the history of institutions in the advanced market economies. This means their transferability is questionable. Second, the regulation of health systems in advanced market economies has precluded the development of certain other types of organization that may be equally or more effective.<sup>3</sup> This means that low- and middle-income countries may be in a better position to innovate institutionally. Third, the regulatory arrangements in the advanced market economies strongly influence international standards and the development of health systems in other countries. However, this does not mean that the direction of development of global health systems is already determined. The rapid growth of demand for health-related goods and services and the emergence of a variety of organizations to meet this demand have created opportunities for major changes in the organization of both national and global markets. This means that policies and interventions over the next few years are likely to influence the path of development of these market systems for many years to come (Bloom and Standing 2008).

#### Health systems in low- and middle-income countries

National health systems in developing countries reflect different historical legacies. Most countries have long-established health-related markets based on different medical knowledge systems and embedded in "traditional" institutional arrangements. During the second half of the 20th century anti-colonial and/or post-revolutionary governments in much of Africa and Asia attempted to provide equitable access to "modern" health services for all. Strategies for achieving this were influenced by a shared understanding of development as a state-led process for creating the building blocks of a modern economy. Many governments constructed a network of basic health facilities, trained and deployed health workers, established drug distribution systems, and created vertically organized public health programs. There was little interest in the previously established health markets, and their importance diminished in many countries.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> For example, well-established rules govern access to prescription and non-prescription drugs, the role of advertising, and the relationships between medical professionals, retail pharmacies, and pharmaceutical companies. Countries with a less well-established health regulatory system face a choice of passing similar laws or fostering the emergence of new types of organization, such as more demand-led approaches to information for users.

The subsequent history of national health systems has varied greatly (Bloom and Standing 2001). Some countries have established and sustained well-organized government health services, but many others have evolved into pluralistic health systems with a large informal market. Some have experienced shocks such as war and civil disturbance, natural disasters, prolonged economic crisis, and the pandemic of HIV and AIDS, which have eroded the financial basis of the public health system and led to changes in the attitudes and behavior of government employees. Much economic activity in these countries occurs outside the organized economy. The health sector has mirrored these changes with a rapid spread of markets into services previously organized through "traditional" relationships or by the state. Other countries, including many transition economies and other countries that are encouraging the growth of markets, have substantially altered the balance between the state and markets. Some are well on the way to becoming advanced market economies. Others have experienced substantial economic decline and resemble those described above. Still others have experienced rapid economic growth and concomitant increase in market-oriented activities in health.

#### Vicious circles and low-efficiency traps—the example of rural China

Markets for health-related goods and services in a number of countries have expanded more rapidly than the creation of trust-based institutional arrangements to ensure their efficient operation. This has sometimes led to a "race to the bottom," in which service providers or sellers of drugs compete on the basis of price, since they have no way to indicate the value of their skills to potential clients.

Figure 1 illustrates the vicious circle that emerged in rural China as the health system adapted to changes associated with the transition to a market economy. Government health budgets grew less rapidly than both the overall economy and average earnings. This meant that rural health facilities had to generate revenue to provide reasonable levels of pay. Meanwhile the most highly skilled personnel transferred to urban facilities. Health workers gained a reputation for over-prescribing drugs. This led people to seek care from village clinics, where health workers were part of local social networks, or from large hospitals, whose competence they trusted more. This decreased utilization of local health centers and increased their need to generate revenue. The perception grew that health workers acted opportunistically, and local governments became less and less willing to fund them. Attempts to reestablish local health insurance schemes foundered because of the unwillingness of households and local governments to contribute to them. The government has now made rural health reform a priority and is taking a number of measures to build the institutional arrangements for transforming the vicious circle into a virtuous one. This could make possible a win-win situation for providers and users of good quality services. Many other countries face similar issues with health systems caught in a low-efficiency trap.



#### Figure 1: The vicious circle in rural health services in poor localities of China

#### Implications for markets and states

Private providers in advanced market economies operate within a highly regulated context. The situation is quite different in countries where a legal or regulatory framework does not take into account the emergence of markets for health-related services. The legal framework established to support a state-led health system may remain intact and government health workers generally have contracts that imply they are in full-time employment, yet in practice they rely on market-like activities to maintain their income.<sup>4</sup> Informal providers and public sector employees, who receive informal payments, may operate outside any legal framework, and there is limited capacity to enforce regulations because of a lack of resources or inadequate understanding by regulators of their role or because they have little incentive to act (Ensor and Weinzierl 2006). Indeed, regulators may have strong incentives not to enforce regulations. There are often large discontinuities between the legal framework and the real social and economic relationships. In many cases, the health system is highly segmented with the better-off benefiting from institutions, such as health insurance and a relatively effective regulatory framework, while the poor rely largely on informal markets.

The recognition that much market activity takes place outside a formal regulatory framework and that public systems are increasingly involved in formal and informal markets suggests that the clear demarcation between private and public sectors in advanced market economies does not necessarily apply elsewhere (Bloom 2005a). The definition of the private sector by Smith and colleagues (2001) as "those who work outside the direct control of the state" raises big questions. For example, how does one

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Some public health services could more accurately be described as publicly subsidized markets, with a number of regulatory rigidities, and the gap between formal employment contracts and long-established reality can provide anomalous incentives for health workers.

define government-owned health facilities in China, which generate as much as 95 percent of their revenue from payments by patients (Fang and Bloom 2008)? How should one regard government employees in many countries who rely on informal payments to earn a living, or work part of their day in "private" facilities?

Categorization of organizations in terms of ownership and legal status is similarly problematic. For example, a recent report on private health systems in Africa differentiated between for-profit providers, not-for profit organizations, including faith-based organizations, and social enterprises (IFC 2007, p. 7). However, although many advanced market economies have highly developed regulatory frameworks that provide quite different patterns of incentive to each type of organization, that is not the case in many African countries. It may be difficult to differentiate between the incentives facing employees of "for-profit" and some "not-for-profit" organizations, for example. Similarly, performance may differ greatly between health facilities that notionally share the same mission (Tibandebage and Mackintosh 2005). We need to move beyond a simple public-private dichotomy to develop a more nuanced understanding of markets and the influence of the state and other agencies on their performance. As Das and colleagues (2008) note, the performance of both public and private providers of health services is strongly influenced by the incentives they face.

Analyses of "government failure" in many low- and middle-income countries note that government employees do not behave like "Weberian bureaucrats."<sup>5</sup> Performance is strongly influenced by financial incentives and by political and patronage relationships. In many instances, there is a fine line between market-like behavior that has accrued a degree of legitimacy and behavior that is socially understood to be corrupt (Lewis 2006; Vian 2008). For example, some informal payments may be regarded as "fair" in a context of very low public sector pay, while other payments may be viewed as exploitative. There is an equally difficult-to-define line between the use of regulatory powers for the public good and in the interest of specific stakeholders or the regulators, themselves. Interventions that do not take this reality into account can have unintended consequences (Pritchett and Woolcock 2004).

The same factors that contribute to the failure of government systems also influence the performance of markets. North (1990) stresses the importance of agreed and enforced rules and associated expectations and behavioral norms in facilitating the effective performance of markets. In the absence of these institutions, one finds major failures of both states and markets (Chang 2007). Some current manifestations of these failures in the health sector are the growing problem of counterfeit drugs, inappropriate use of anti-microbial and anti-viral agents, and problems with the quality and cost of care.

Effective regulatory structures usually involve partnerships between the state and other stakeholders. For example, the drug regulatory systems of the advanced market economies were established in close consultation with the pharmaceutical industry, and they reflect a balance between public and stakeholder interests (Abraham 1995). Some

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> This refers to government employees who are paid a salary and provided with good career prospects in exchange for being public servants who act in the interest of the population.

argue that the balance has favored powerful stakeholders, but most agree that some form of regulatory partnership is needed. In contrast, the governments of many low-income countries have tried to create these structures without direct involvement of industry actors. And large international companies have taken little responsibility for the use of their products in export markets. The result has often been weakly regulated health markets, both nationally and internationally. One encouraging response has been the emergence of regulatory partnerships ("co-production") between government and other actors (Joshi and Moore 2004). Although these regulatory arrangements are subject to the influence of narrow interests, they also reflect recognition that these actors have a shared interest in the creation of a trusted and effective health system.

# 3. Markets and the Health Knowledge Economy

A number of propositions about health systems and markets lie at the core of this paper:

- The reality of health care systems in many developing economies is of high levels of marketization, pluralistic provision, and a large gap between the goal of a functioning publicly provided and regulated health system and the messy reality that confronts both users and providers. This paper argues for better analytical and practical understanding of this reality. It is not an argument for privatization but for creative thinking on how to start from this reality in constructing health systems that work much better for the poor.
- Health systems are frequently highly segmented. This is no longer just a financial segmentation, in which the better-off can either afford to pay for good quality care or are protected by privileged financing arrangements such as private insurance, leaving the poor to underfunded public health systems. Health markets increasingly dominate transactions for all socioeconomic groups, as demonstrated in major changes in health seeking behavior.<sup>6</sup> Markets themselves are segmented in complex ways that reflect their users' purchasing power (or lack of it), their cultural and social needs, understandings of health and disease, and assessments of provider reputation.
- The development of trust-based institutional arrangements that provide a reasonable guarantee of competence and effectiveness has lagged behind this growth in market-type relationships. However, the path dependency of health systems means that institutional pathways to more equitable health systems are likely to take different forms outside the countries of the Organisation for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> For instance, a recent study in Chakaria District, a poor rural area of Bangladesh found that 28 percent of people reporting an illness during the previous two weeks used a home remedy, 65 percent sought treatment from an informal village doctor or drug seller, and only 14 percent consulted a qualified doctor (Future Health Systems 2008).

Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). These forms will reflect the different development pathways, sets of actors, and existing and emerging institutional arrangements, including "informal" ones, in a particular country.

- The form these institutional arrangements take, including the role of government, reflects a country's political economy. And a regime's legitimacy can be affected by the perceived safety, effectiveness, and fairness of the health sector.
- Information asymmetry pervades health markets and is considered to be a key market failure in health. This can particularly disadvantage the poor, who lack both financial and *knowledge-based* access to competent, affordable health care. We argue that it pervades all knowledge-based market transactions, not only health. There is thus much to be learned from different market sectors on other kinds of approaches to reducing information asymmetries in ways that benefit the poor.

# Understanding market systems

This section builds on these core propositions to examine in more detail how healthrelated markets operate. Their role is to make widely available the benefits of expert medical knowledge, in terms of advice and treatment and embodied in goods such as pharmaceuticals. It is important to clarify that this analysis does not equate a market with the delivery of a (commercial) service but refers to the whole set of supporting functions and rules enacted by different sets of players ("public" and "private") at different stages of the delivery, hence the use of the term "market system." Along with financing mechanisms to provide equitable access, efficient operation of these markets depends on effective ways to address information asymmetry. This involves the setting and enforcement of rules and provision of accurate and timely information. Health systems tend to have complex arrangements for achieving these functions. How they operate in a specific social context is key to understanding how performance incentives and disincentives will play out.

**Figure 2: Conceptualizing market systems** 



Source: Adapted from Elliot et al. 2008, figure 3.

Recent work looking at the question of how markets can be made to work for poor people (DFID and SDC 2008; Elliot et al. 2008) provides a useful starting point for understanding markets for health-related goods and services.<sup>7</sup> As markets play a crucial role in mediating the relationships between providers and users of goods and services, it is important to understand these markets and their institutional contexts as systems that can perform well or badly. Figure 2 summarizes this approach to understanding market

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The following paragraphs draw on a report and background papers prepared for this initiative, which presents the markets for poor people (M4P) approach. The overall purpose of M4P is to contribute to the reduction of poverty by "enhancing the poor's access to opportunities and their capacity to respond to opportunities either as entrepreneurs, workers or consumers" (DFID and SDC 2008, draft operational guide, p. 10). We are very grateful to Rob Hitchins for help in applying this work to health market systems.

systems. At the center is the set of exchanges between providers and consumers of the relevant goods and services. These exchanges are governed by formal and informal rules, whose establishment and enforcement involve a number of actors. The informal rules strongly influence the degree to which formal rules are accepted. The supporting functions provide an environment within which the performance of market players can be enhanced. This environment includes multiple actors and organizations, legal regulations, and the norms and values of suppliers and users of goods and services. Elliot and colleagues (2008) argue that interventions that focus exclusively on either strengthening the management of a specific organization or changing macroeconomic policy are likely to fail. Reforms need to bridge micro and macro levels in building arrangements to support improved performance of markets.

#### Types of markets in health-related goods and services

Markets permeate health systems in complex ways. "Upstream," they are embedded in research and development, for instance of drugs and vaccines; they interface at different points in the supply chain, for instance through the provision of specialized knowledge services and innovation. "Downstream," they are also major suppliers of goods and services. These may be simple or complex, and with different degrees of connectedness to other markets. There are no simple sets of prescriptions for the organization of these health-related market systems, and they vary along multiple dimensions.

#### Different types of service transaction and degree of complexity

It is misleading to discuss markets for health-related goods and services in general, as if the provision of all of them will require a single type of organization. The design of an intervention depends on the characteristics of the health-related good or service. For some, there are only minimal problems with information asymmetry and users do not require much expertise to use it well and avoid harm. The main challenges are to develop a well-defined good and/or service, establish a distribution system, and inform potential users of its value. One example is the development and widespread use of oral rehydration solution for diarrhea. Interventions vary in the degree to which their effective provision relies on the expertise, effort, and integrity of the provider.<sup>8</sup> Another difference concerns the importance of the knowledge, effort, trust in the provider, and ability to pay of the users of goods and services. The treatment of a minor ailment, for example, may simply involve access to good quality drugs and widely available knowledge, and may be best left to competitive markets. The management of a chronic, progressive disease requires quite high levels of trust in the advice of the service providers and a willingness to make changes to lifestyle or comply with drug treatments. Major surgical treatment requires high levels of trust, expertise, and a well-organized hospital. The incentives to provide these components of quality health care will be strongly influenced by the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Chakraborty and Harding (2002) differentiate health-related goods and services on the basis of their measurability and contestability. Leonard (2000) argues that, in rural Cameroon, people choose providers on the basis of the need for practitioner effort, patient effort, and medical expense. Van Damme and colleagues (2008) provide a typology of the types of services for meeting the needs of people with HIV and AIDS in terms of the degree of expertise required, the need for knowledge and effort on the part of the patient, and the inter-relationship between a variety of expert services.

institutional structures within which health-related goods and services are exchanged and by attributes of medical organizations. The consequences of a failure to ensure safety and effectiveness range from mild to severe.

# Different clienteles

One criterion for assessing an intervention to modify the performance of health-related markets is its impact on the poor. Some interventions may directly target their immediate needs. Others may aim at a longer term impact. For example, some interventions will reach a widening range of consumers as knowledge of it grows, costs fall, and the delivery of services spreads to poor localities. It is likely that the services will never reach the most remote or the poorest, for which other approaches will be necessary. Other interventions may be too expensive for the poor, and their overall impact may be to reinforce the segmentation of health-related markets with a deleterious impact on the poor. For example, a decision to restrict all eye surgery to hospital-based specialist surgeons would deny most poor people access to low-cost cataract operations. The same applies to many regulations that reserve the provision of services to highly qualified professionals and effectively leave the providers of services to the poor unregulated and outside the law.

# Ownership, mission, and accountability of different market players

The categorization of market players in terms of their ownership, assumed mission, and accountability requirements may not be clear cut in countries without developed market-related institutions (figure 2). There may be blurred boundaries between public and private health service providers and between for profit and not-for-profit organizations There is little systematic information on the pattern of incentives managers and employees of different types of organization face or their likely response to alternative organizational arrangements. Similarly, while there are likely to be formal accountability arrangements, it is often informal ones that determine incentives and outcomes. For instance, there may be tacit arrangements over which informal payments can be demanded and who shares in them.

# Interconnected markets

The provision of medical services involves a series of interconnected markets for different goods and services. Van Damme and colleagues (2008) illustrate this with the role of laboratories and the procurement, distribution, and prescription of appropriate drugs in the treatment of HIV and AIDS. Where the patterns of incentives in one market are not aligned with the interests of the poor, other markets will be affected. Making health markets work better for the poor will often entail the need to address a problem in an interconnected or secondary market. In Bangladesh, for example, poor rural people obtain much of their health care from informal drug sellers. A recent study found that these drug sellers were strongly influenced by the large numbers of representatives of drug wholesalers, who have strong incentives to sell expensive products.<sup>9</sup> These representatives are an important source of information to the informal providers. The health sector is also strongly influenced by existing markets for credit and insurance,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Personal communication by Dr. Mohammad Iqbal of ICDDR,B, Dhaka.

which affect the ability of households to cope with the high cost of a serious illness and of potential providers of services to poor people to establish a practice.

#### Local, national, and international market systems

Figure 2 does not define the geographical boundary of a market system. Some markets are mostly influenced by local, largely informal, institutional arrangements. For many others, there is an interaction between local, national, and international organizations and institutions. It is important to understand the links between national and global value chains (Gereffi et al. 2005; Smith 2004; Woodward 2005). For example, the organization of the global pharmaceutical sector strongly influences the performance of local markets through arrangements to regulate quality, protect intellectual property, and promote the use of new products. Also, international service delivery organizations play an important and growing role in many countries as do large consultancy firms and donor agencies that finance health services. In Cambodia, international nongovernmental organizations (NGOs) are working closely with local hospitals, to improve their performance and build their reputation, and with local NGOs, to establish health equity funds that ensure that donor funds are used to purchase hospital care for the poor. The rapid emergence of branded private hospital chains as a source of high-quality medical care and of medical tourism is another example of the interaction between national and transnational markets (Chee 2008). Global value chains in the health sector are changing rapidly, and measures to improve the performance of local markets will increasingly entail attention to supranational supply chains as they alter the patterns of incentives in local health markets.

# Sustainability of an intervention

Interventions to make markets work better for poor people need to be based, first, on a systematic understanding of the reasons for current problems, the constraints to change, and the factors likely to lead to sustainable arrangements more able to meet needs. In the health sector, for example, this may involve the creation of new kinds of organization that encourage health workers to provide better quality services through a combination of direct management and the design of incentives, which explicitly acknowledge a marketized element in performance, especially among poorly remunerated front-line staff. This may also involve changes to formal regulatory frameworks and the participation of a much wider range of actors, such as health worker associations, private organizations, and citizen groups, in efforts to change understandings of the obligations of health workers and their appropriate income. There is often a trade-off between immediate benefits and the potential long-term impacts. This means that the design of interventions should take into account the likely impact on a variety of stakeholders and anticipate possible unintended consequences. Second, sustainability needs an analysis of who pays and how long-term viability is expected to be established. How can sustainable financing arrangements be put in place to encourage the provision of accessible, competent services to poor users?

#### What do institutional arrangements in health market systems do?

One way to understand the role of institutional arrangements in health and other sectors is as a means to foster "social contracts" between actors (Bloom, Standing, and Lloyd 2008). These contracts embody the expectations necessary for the establishment and maintenance of trust-based relationships, and they reflect broader understandings in a given society of expected social reciprocity. In relation to health care, they enable people to purchase drugs without worrying about their safety and efficacy and consult possessors of medical knowledge with confidence in their expertise and ethics. They also make possible the establishment of insurance schemes to which people contribute money in the expectation they will have support should they fall ill in the future.

These relationships also reflect and, to some extent, reinforce relationships of power. For example, in many countries the organized medical profession strongly opposes measures to improve the performance of nonprofessional providers mostly used by the poor (Dussault 2008). Large pharmaceutical companies often oppose measures that threaten their markets. Markets are frequently segmented, with actors that serve different social groups following different rules and behavioral norms. Institutional arrangements are always negotiated in relation to these realities. Strategies to alter the performance of market systems must be based on an assessment of the political and social context and identification of significant power relationships between actors (Bloom 2001).

In most countries, the performance of health-related markets has broader social and political consequences that mandate institutional actions. The legitimacy of a regime is linked, to some extent, to its ability to protect the population against major health-related challenges. Scandals about counterfeit drugs, contaminated blood, inadequate responses to disease outbreaks, and the impoverishment of households due to high health care costs can have a strong political impact. This will grow as countries become increasingly integrated into the global economy and local scandals influence the reputation of companies seeking global markets in pharmaceuticals or the provision of health-related services.

Institutional arrangements perform a range of functions in health systems, including reducing information asymmetries. Their overarching function is *the creation of conditions for trust in the competence and ethics of providers*. Trust is essential to the effective performance of health systems (Gilson 2003). Users also need to feel confident that money they contribute in taxes or contributions to insurance schemes will entitle them to care when they need it, years later. In the absence of such confidence, users may have to invest a great deal of effort to find a competent provider or forgo potential benefits of health care technologies. The other side of the social contract between providers and users of health-related goods and services is the reputation of providers. Providers need to believe that they will benefit from a reputation for skill and ethical behavior in terms of income, future career prospects, social status, and influence. Specific institutional arrangements are required to produce the following outcomes:

• *Avoiding harm*—for example, dealing with low-quality drugs, unnecessary use of dangerous pharmaceuticals, or incompetent surgery. These problems are mostly addressed by a combination of government and professional regulation, the

internal management arrangements of organizations with a reputation for the supply of safe goods and services, trade and other market associations, and laws that provide compensation for injury due to negligence.

- *Reducing ineffective treatment*. Institutional means to address this issue include provision by specific bodies of relevant information and treatment protocols, licensing and accreditation, and the development of contractual arrangements that encourage providers to follow appropriate practice. However, more creative arrangements are required to deal with informal provision where there is often both ineffective treatment and reluctance to refer where needed. For example, in Bangladesh, informal providers tend to avoid referring patients to government hospitals because the doctors disparage them to their patients.<sup>10</sup> Institutional arrangements being tried in this context include involvement of citizen-based Health Watch groups in monitoring performance of local providers.
- *Reducing unnecessary expenditure*. This includes the prescription of harmless but ineffective drugs and the encouragement of elective surgery, such as overuse of Caesarian sections. Institutionally, these problems require incentives for providers to build a reputation for effective services at an affordable cost and encouraging a service ethic. They can also be addressed by measures to enable people to become better informed consumers. The increasing importance of chronic disease in terms of the burden of ill health and as a potential market for goods and services is making this kind of decision about the management of a chronic condition increasingly important. However, it raises challenging issues concerning who should provide this advice and upon which evidence they should base it. It also raises questions about how people decide whose advice to trust and follow.

Institutional arrangements are a critical factor in *building the legitimacy of health system governance and development*. The sustainability of institutional arrangements and the expectation of compliance with rules depend on the degree to which they are perceived to be legitimate. This goes beyond the reputation of a specific facility or organization. It is related to the degree to which the rules are perceived by the population more generally to address major problems, take into account the needs of different social groups, and command widespread consent. One major challenge is the balance between the interests of specific stakeholders and an agreed public interest. In some contexts, it may only be possible to build a consensus around a very small core of particularly important regulatory issues.

# Toward market order

Here, we describe some of the approaches to creating institutional arrangements for market order, drawn from the findings of our reviews of initiatives to make health

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> A number of studies have shown that the delay of a decision to refer a woman with a high-risk pregnancy or a child with severe malaria or pneumonia to hospital is an important cause of avoidable death.

markets work better (appendix 1) and on the current and potential impact of marketdriven innovations in information and communications technology for health systems development (appendix 2). We focus on two areas of market order crucial to managing information asymmetry: trust and information flows.

As noted, a key function of institutional arrangements is to create the conditions for trust between providers and users of goods and services. Service providers have evolved various strategies for building a reputation for expertise and ethical behavior (Montagu 2002 and 2003; Mills et al. 2002; Prata et al. 2005). In health markets, users are frequently willing to pay a premium to providers with such a reputation. These strategies largely evolved in sectors such as financial services, restaurants, and hotels, but they are being adopted in the health sector. Formal approaches include the following:

- The development of services through large, well-known organizations, such as NGOs, hospital chains, and retail pharmacy chains, which have a strong incentive to protect their reputation through internal management systems
- The establishment of franchises, in which franchisees agree to adhere to certain standards in order to trade with a particular brand name
- The accreditation or licensing of a facility or provider by an independent agency. This may be a national accreditation body, a professional licensing agency, a trade association, or a variety of other trusted national or local organizations.

Although a variety of innovations has emerged using one or more of these approaches, there is little systematic evidence yet of their impact on different aspects of an organization's performance or on broader health market system reform (appendix 1). As approaches develop, it will be important to build in forms of evaluation that will allow more systematic comparison of processes and outcomes.

Bishai and Champion (2008), in a review of franchising, draw on a methodology developed by Maness (1996) to compare the incentives provided by franchising and vertical integration and conclude that the former provides stronger incentives for local entrepreneurship, while the latter is better at encouraging effort by the coordinating agency. They argue that major concerns with both models are the degree to which they encourage active coordination and quality control and the capacity of the coordinating agency to influence providers. This assumes managerial effectiveness and the existence of clearly defined and understood incentives. In addition, in developing a typology of agencies in terms of formal contractual arrangements and their influence on performance, both formal and informal influences on key actors need to be taken into account.<sup>11</sup> For example, how should one understand religious mission hospitals, where a sense of service and ethical standards moderate the financial incentives for opportunistic behavior? If the faith community has a high reputation in a country, it may be able to translate this

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Liu (2008) provides a fascinating discussion of how KFC adapted its use of direct management and franchising to the changing realities in China.

reputation into a capacity to maintain quality standards in other facilities. Similarly, where do associations of providers of services and drug sellers fit? Finally, how important are the international reputations of large NGOs and the consultancy firms to the success of pilot models they support? As new types of organization based on these kinds of approaches emerge and mature, we will need a new typology of market arrangements.

One source of reputation has been a link to organizations from the advanced market economies, where accountability mechanisms are more clearly defined. This may explain the tendency of people to purchase branded pharmaceuticals and the rapid growth in internationally branded service delivery organizations such as NGOs and hospital chains. The analysis of global value chains in other sectors suggests that the ownership of a brand with a good reputation confers great financial advantages.

The spread of retail pharmacy chains provides another potential way to distribute effective health-related goods and services (appendix 1). They tend to be either centrally managed organizations or franchises with a reputation regarding quality and cost of drugs. Some chains employ health workers to provide medical advice. These organizations present important opportunities and challenges. If they build a reputation for competent advice on low-cost ways to treat a health condition, they could become important mechanisms for making markets work better for the poor. On the other hand, they could establish close links with manufacturers of pharmaceuticals to collaborate in expanding the market for branded products, with limited regard to less expensive options for managing an illness. These considerations become particularly important concerning the treatment of the growing number of people with chronic disease. This illustrates the importance to the evolution of rapidly developing markets of the interaction between organizations (with their internal culture and incentives) with actors in other markets such as pharmaceutical production and wholesaling, formal regulatory agencies, the owners of the mass media, mobile telephones and the Internet and the providers of health-related content to them, and an array of formal and informal accountability organizations. The example of retail pharmacy chains raises the more general issue of the mission of an organization, the incentives its senior managers have for achieving it, and their capacity to influence people within their organization or associated with it as franchisees to take that mission into account. The formal and informal factors that create this organizational culture strongly influence performance. We need much more systematic information on this to explain the ability to build and sustain a reputation for competence and ethical behavior of some religious mission hospitals in Africa, large NGOs in Bangladesh, a variety of NGOs and social entrepreneurs in India, and government health services in a number of countries.

Informal mechanisms for building trust and reputation, based on local networks, are equally or more important in many contexts. These may be mechanisms for building a reputation for good behavior, linked to community-based accountability mechanisms. In China, rural people use local networks when they believe a village health worker has behaved badly (Fang 2008). In Nigeria, patent vendors, who are important sources of pharmaceutical products, are organized in associations that protect the interests of their

members but also apply sanctions for what are regarded as unethical practices (Oladepo et al. 2007). In many countries, traditional healers are organized in local and sometimes national associations. Studies have demonstrated the importance of word of mouth for the establishment and maintenance of a facility's reputation (Leonard 2007). In some contexts, initiatives are emerging that cannot be neatly characterized as formal or informal, as in the case of the intervention by a coalition of researchers, NGOs and civil society, and local government bodies with informal providers in rural Bangladesh (see below). The major challenge for the future is to build on effective local arrangements to create more extensive institutional frameworks.

The flow of knowledge and information is vitally important to the performance of healthrelated markets. Both providers and users, including many of the poor, increasingly live in a world where multiple sources of information are now accessible. These include from satellite and electronic media, whether directly or indirectly through knowledge intermediaries. For providers, formal and informal training and practical experience provide important channels for the spread of knowledge. One commonly finds people who have had some form of health-related job opening a private practice. Or, as documented in Bangladesh, village doctors may learn their trade by copying the prescriptions and practices of qualified doctors. A second major channel of health-related information to both providers and users is organized and financed by private companies, often with support from advertising agencies. Knowledge of new pharmaceuticals may be spread by "detail men" from large companies and by salespeople and other wholesalers. These companies may also pay for advertisements that target potential users of the products. Such knowledge flows are increasingly "globalized"—for instance, Chinese traditional medicine and associated products are now highly packaged for different international markets, including in developing countries, through targeted selling to particular population groups. Another channel comes from a variety of national and international advocacy and special interest groups, which provide information to the mass media, disseminate information through the Internet, and provide courses to practitioners. Finally, the mass media, mobile telephones, and the Internet have become important sources of health-related knowledge. Some of the content is provided by agencies with a public health mandate, but much reflects a commercial interest or a particular advocacy viewpoint.

This proliferation of sources of expert knowledge has created a new need for trusted knowledge brokers and new initiatives to fill this growing gap. A number of initiatives disseminate information on performance through citizens' report cards, publication of achievement of performance targets, and establishment of citizen complaint lines. Consumer associations play an increasingly important role in some countries (Peters and Muraleedharan 2008).

The participants at a workshop on Making Markets Work Better for Poor People, organized by ICDDR,B in Dhaka in August 2008<sup>12</sup> discussed a number of initiatives to enable people to become more effective users of health-related goods and services and managers of their own health. MoPoTsyo, a relatively new Cambodian NGO, organizes

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> See http://www.futurehealthsystems.org/themes/themes2008/healthmarkets/Dhaka%20meeting.htm

people with diabetes to manage their own condition and negotiates with suppliers of drugs and providers of health services to ensure high-quality advice and reasonably priced drugs. It achieves this through training people with diabetes to become peer educators with the aim of creating expert patients in a context of a poorly performing formal health system. An initiative under development in China has identified the important role of advertising in generating demand for products to treat chronic conditions associated with aging and the need to provide alternative sources of information to the public. These innovations focus on strategies for enabling people to gain access to reliable and trustworthy expert knowledge and advice in the face of a rapid increase in the channels for information flow.

The Dhaka workshop identified several approaches for putting together effective interventions and making them widely available through existing market actors, whether formal commercial channels or informal drug sellers and health service providers. These approaches combine training, mechanisms to build reputations for good service and strategies to inform users. In Bangladesh, a private telemedicine company provides a 24hour health help line through GrameenPhone, the country's largest mobile phone network, staffed by qualified doctors who follow clear protocols. The company is in the process of developing e-prescriptions, linked to authorized pharmacies to enable the help line doctors to provide prescription advice. The company has strict rules preventing any commissions to third parties such as pharmaceutical companies or distributors, and the service is funded entirely from call revenue. This has enhanced its reputation as a source of unbiased information.

Another example from Bangladesh, where informal health care providers and drug sellers are the largest source of treatment for many poor people, is the preparation of a book of treatment guidelines and development of a newly established association of informal providers to agree on mechanisms to encourage members to improve their performance and with local Health Watch associations of users to monitor provider performance. In India, similarly, an NGO called First Care has established a small network of informal providers linked through the Internet. It is providing training in appropriate health care and plans to build the reputation of its associates by awarding a certificate and creating a franchised brand. Nigeria's patent medicine vendors are a major source of anti-malarial drugs. They are organized in associations, which have expressed an interest in providing training and monitoring their members' performance in supplying only quality-assured drugs and providing up-to-date advice on their efficacy. Several associations are working with Ibadan University to design an intervention to implement this strategy and also to involve community groups in using low-cost kits for testing the efficacy of drugs. All interventions with informal providers face challenges in building links with government or statutory bodies to ensure efficient referral of people who need more intensive treatment, improving the performance of drug distribution markets in providing reliable information and reducing incentives to over-prescribe, and in ensuring that providers can compensate for any income lost by reducing sales of unnecessary drugs. They also need to address laws that prevent the incorporation of these providers into a legal framework.

The lack of a strong regulatory state at different levels has created a vacuum into which other actors are stepping to provide some kind of market order. This often involves a partnership with the national or local state to co-produce regulation (Joshi and Moore 2004; Peters and Muraleedharan 2008). These partnerships may involve private companies, business associations, professions, and community or citizen groups. These raise important questions about how "public interest" is constructed out of this complexity of interests and which sets of actors dominate in this process. One of the big unanswered questions about the development of health market systems is the relative roles that local, national, and global reputations and actors will play. This will depend on the balance of local, national, and global interests involved and the degree to which governments and international bodies can implement effective regulatory arrangements that go beyond the level of the local.

# 4. Institutional Innovation in Health Care Markets

In this section, we explore strategies for stimulating and accelerating the spread of institutional innovations in health market systems. Much analysis of innovation in lowand middle-income countries focuses on technology. Bell and Pavitt (1993) argue against a dichotomy between development and diffusion of innovations. They point out that the adaptation of a technology to a new context requires both technical capacity and favorable institutional arrangements and suggest that these factors explain a lot of the inter-country differences in development experience of technological innovation. We apply a similar approach to analyzing the origin and spread of innovations in health system organization. We also follow Gardner and colleagues (2007) in recognizing and exploring the impact on institutional arrangements of innovations in technology, such as the development of information technology which is making new forms of institutional arrangement possible.

As noted earlier, one reason for slow institutional innovation in many health-related markets has been political resistance. Governments have been unwilling to renege on their commitments to the creation of state-led health services. Stakeholders have resisted changes to the law that would legitimate health care markets. Although this resistance has been, to some extent, an expression of sectional interests and ideological preference, it has also reflected serious concerns about the negative consequences of the rapid consolidation of health-related markets. Although one can imagine the emergence of well-ordered markets for health-related goods and services, one can equally imagine disorganized markets driven by short-term gain, which provide expensive and often ineffective services for those who can afford to pay and at the same time reinforce a segmented health system with a deleterious impact on the poor. As discussed above, the belief that government has a duty to protect the population's health has created major constraints to measures perceived to be risky. Governments and civil society have been reluctant to embark on a poorly understood process whose outcome is uncertain.

#### Where innovations arise

One understanding of the creation and spread of the global market economy has been that innovations in type of organization have mostly arisen in a few core countries and subsequently spread around the world. In this case, the appropriate strategy for accelerating improvements to the performance of health market systems in low- and middle-income countries would be to facilitate learning from the advanced market economies by encouraging companies to extend their operations to other countries, organizing opportunities for entrepreneurs to learn from the advanced market economies, supporting demonstration projects and so forth. Here, we present four arguments against this perspective: (i) innovative approaches from one country need to be adapted substantially to a different context; (ii) local adaptations are important sources of institutional innovation; (iii) a number of dynamic market economies outside the core countries are fast becoming sources of institutional innovation in global markets; and (iv) innovations both reflect and are influenced by segmented markets. For instance, the rapid entry of global companies that provide highly organized services aimed mostly at the better-off could draw skilled personnel away from the public and private providers of care to the poor and affect the structure of the market for a very long time.

Research on the diffusion of technological innovation has demonstrated the degree to which additional effort is needed to adapt a new technology to a different context. The M4P approach argues, along similar lines, that attempts to transplant organizations to different contexts tend not to have a sustainable impact, unless they are part of an overall strategy for strengthening a market system's institutional arrangements (DFID and SDC 2008). Analysts from several perspectives emphasize the role of local innovation in developing effective ways to address new challenges. For example, Joshi and Moore (2004) reached similar conclusions on efforts to strengthen public sector management in low- and middle-income countries and advocate local solutions to local contexts. They describe how local governments have established partnerships with civil society organizations to collaborate in delivering a service or regulating a market. Writing from a historian's perspective, Fukuyama (2004) argues that institutional arrangements need to be embedded in local contexts. These analytical conclusions apply particularly to unorganized health markets that need to involve local accountability structures to construct sustainable institutions.

The advanced market economies have spawned a number of market-driven organizational models that include retail pharmacy and hospital chains, and franchises for a variety of health-related products. These models are diffusing through the expansion of organizations to other countries and by replication of these models by local entrepreneurs. Several donor programs have attempted to adapt these models to meet the needs of the poor. There is little evidence, to date, about the degree to which these efforts have been successful in substantially altering the performance of health market systems (appendix 1). However, a number of our examples, and the innovations discussed in the Dhaka workshop, indicate promising directions in adapting more generic models to local circumstances (see section 5).

The rapid economic growth of Brazil, China, India, and other countries is creating new international centers for technological innovation (Mashelkar 2005; Leadbeater and

Wilsdon 2007). The demand for health-related goods and services is rising very rapidly in these countries. One can anticipate the emergence of quite different types of market organization that reflect current technologies, the economic and social context, and the regulatory environment in these countries. If these companies can build a reputation for providing trustworthy services at an affordable price, they could expand very rapidly, to become important actors in the global health economy.

A number of factors affect the impact of an innovation on the poor (Kaplinsky 2008). First, innovations reflect segmented markets in that different kinds of innovation address the needs of the better-off and those of the poor (Leach and Scoones 2006). The former are more likely to arise in a mature market economy and the latter closer to where poor people live. A program aimed at strengthening health market systems needs to include strategies for identifying and disseminating innovations from these different sources. Second, it needs to address the health system as a whole by recognizing that provider organizations and other agencies will need to be involved in co-producing more ordered markets that take into account negotiated agreement on the public good and the needs of the poor. In the light of the evidence about the path-dependent nature of health market systems, it is important that key actors can construct mechanisms to include the needs of the poor in institutional arrangements that determine the development of these markets.

# Entrepreneurship and (market) learning

Entrepreneurs play an important role in the creation of new organizational models. They operate at every level from local unorganized markets to national and global health care markets. The literature on innovation emphasizes the importance of clusters of innovation and of the need for opportunities for learning between entrepreneurs. It also emphasizes the need to identify and disseminate lessons from successful innovations. The emergence of pluralistic health systems attests to the volume of local innovation. One commonly finds a bewildering variety of providers of health-related goods and services in many different practice settings. One can also find many examples of local approaches to build trust and address information asymmetry. The major lack has been in mechanisms to associate these providers with larger scale organizations to extend access to the benefits of health care technology to larger segments of the population.

There is growing interest in the role of social entrepreneurs in health-related markets. The term is usually used to refer to a focus on the creation of social value and a number of attributes of innovation, risk taking, and a willingness to try something new (Peredo and McLean 2006; Weerawardena and Mort 2006). An alternative definition refers to organizations that "borrow a mix of business, charity and social movement models to reconfigure solutions to community problems and deliver sustainable new social value" (Nicholls 2006, p. 2). Both Nicholls (2006) and Austin and colleagues (2006) suggest that social entrepreneurs work in the public, private, and social sectors and that they are often involved in organizational innovations across these sectors. This makes them particularly interesting in the context of heavily marketized health systems with blurred boundaries between public and private roles and functions.

At the Dhaka workshop, a number of such examples were discussed. A recent development is the design and production of low-cost eyeglasses for people with agerelated vision problems and the development of distribution systems, to ensure wide availability. Scojo has led the latter in India and a number of other countries. It has established its own distribution network in some cases, but elsewhere it has linked to organizations that already have a local distribution network. In Bangladesh, for example, it has agreed to work with BRAC, a very large NGO with a major health program. BRAC has trained many village health volunteers, who, among other things, have played an important role in the implementation of directly observable therapy for tuberculosis. A recent review of BRAC's experience with female community health volunteers has emphasized the importance of BRAC's good reputation in motivating them, but it identified the need to ensure they can also earn some money and maintain a livelihood in a context where there are increasingly other opportunities for them to earn a living (Standing and Chowdhury 2008). Distribution of low-cost eyeglasses would serve both a growing need in rural populations and provide income for its health volunteers. Scojo, on the other hand stands to benefit from the established network and BRAC's good reputation.

A variety of actors are developing and refining other specific goods and services.<sup>13</sup> The Scojo experience underlines the need to put together a complete package that can be used easily by local entrepreneurs with relatively little training. It also illustrates the advantage of linking to a network of local providers with a strong capacity to train providers and encourage good performance and a reputation for addressing the needs of the poor. These networks could include the different forms of organization of formal or informal providers of health-related goods and services described in section 3.

Several authors highlight a tension between a pressure to expand rapidly to meet previously unmet needs and a need for innovative approaches to ensure sustainable changes to existing market systems (Bradach 2003; Dees et al. 2004). The way organizations manage this trade-off reflects the constraints they are attempting to overcome. Sometimes, the unmet needs arise largely from the poverty of potential clients and a major aim of the social entrepreneur is to identify new sources of finance or attract existing public funding, with the focus on rapid scaling-up. In other cases, the major constraint is the need to lead a process of market system reform and the focus is on sustainable change to the operation of markets.

The boundary between social entrepreneurship and responses to commercial opportunities can shift. For example, banking through mobile telephones has evolved from being an act of social entrepreneurship to a major business opportunity. The same applies to micro-credit. A recent assessment of micro-credit confirms its success in achieving growth in access by people previously excluded from the organized economy (Greeley 2006). It has substantially improved the performance of credit markets by using

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> One example is the ongoing effort to design low-cost and easy to use methods for the diagnosis and treatment of malaria.

innovative approaches for identifying good credit risks, appropriate to the institutional context of many low-income countries. Successful schemes are linking to commercial financial organizations. This in turn may create new ways of delivering insurance-based health protection.

There is a significant risk that institutional innovations will create new types of market segmentation in which more people are able to benefit from efficient markets, but some are still excluded. In this context, Greeley (2006) points out that there is limited evidence that the very poorest people have benefited from commercial micro-credit. He emphasizes the importance of monitoring the performance of innovations in meeting the needs of the poor. Measures to meet the needs of the excluded are almost certainly going to require subsidies from government or other sources, with associated specialized institutions to ensure these subsidies reach the target population.

# 5. Strengthening Health-Related Market Systems

In this section, we draw together the different elements of the analysis to outline an initial framework for making health-related markets work better in meeting the needs of the poor.<sup>14</sup> What this review has drawn attention to is the need to go well beyond the immediate setting of the interactions between "private" providers and users of goods and services in health systems. These interactions are part of complex health market systems that vary in many particulars and are embedded in contextually specific social, political, and economic environments and associated institutional arrangements, spanning the local to the global. While there is much to be learned and adapted across different contexts, "what works" will be a balance between more generic findings and innovations that draw from specific experience. We have argued that institutional innovation will arise predominantly from this intersection.

The table below provides a descriptive matrix that brings together the major components influencing health market systems. One conclusion of the Dhaka meeting was that innovations aimed at changing provider performance are unlikely to result in sustainable changes to health market systems unless complemented by changes to other aspects of the market system. This may involve the creation and enforcement of new regulations, the engagement of a variety of actors in regulatory and/or accountability partnerships, and strengthening access to reliable and trustworthy knowledge. It is impossible to separate the performance of the supplier organizations from the market system within which they are embedded. Thus, in assessing the challenges and viability of an intervention/innovation, a key step is to map it in relation to the wider health market system.

This mapping process provides a basic template for situating an intervention or innovation in relation to market functions, players, and potential institutional

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> The authors would like to acknowledge the help provided by David Leonard and Rob Hitchins in developing the framework for analyzing interventions.

arrangements. It provides the basis for asking a series of further questions about the potential to achieve the following outcomes:

- Does it reduce information asymmetry and enable patients to better assess whether the health services they are acquiring are appropriate to their condition?
- Does it align incentives better or worse with patient welfare?
- Does it relieve or exacerbate constraints on competence, finance, and management?
- Is there evidence that it results in better health-related outcomes?
- Does it provide benefits to the poor and/or does it support the creation of sustainable arrangements to meet the needs of the poor in the longer term?

# Health market systems framework for mapping of interventions

Market Factors	Supporting Functions and Rules	Product Variation	Product Organizational Attributes	Institutional Factors	Market and Non-Market Actors Engaged in Producing Market Order
Level of formalization	Infrastructure	<i>Level of:</i> Clinical/practitioner skill	Managerial competence	Payment systems, both by patients and to	Formal regulatory authorities—local, national,
Degree of segmentation	Information flows	Clinical/practitioner effort Clinical practitioner	Financial resources— quantity	practitioners	international
Complexity of supply chain	Related services	integrity (trustworthiness)	Financial resources—	Segregation or integration of various medical services	Informal organizations, local, national,
Interconnectedness of markets	Laws	Price	source	Extent and quality of	international
Global, national, and local market systems	Sector-specific regulations and standards	Accessibility—subdivided into distance, hours of practice, languages spoken.	Governance structure (and its alignment with patient interests)—ownershin:	external state regulation of quality	"hybrids," e.g., private or independent agencies with "public" mandate
Source/driver(s) of	Informal rules and norms including those of health	and social distance	values; extent of patron- clientage; influence of	Extent and quality of external and internal	Private companies
linovation	Non-statutory	Patient effort (including		professions and other associations	NGOs/non-state service provider organizations
	regulations/codes	compliance) Patient trust (Note that a patient may trust a		Extent of implicit regulation and training	Providers' associations
		provider who is not trustworthy)		provided by the referral system	Citizens' bodies, co- producing arrangements
		Patient ability to pay		Extent and quality of internal regulation of quality by the health organization	Media and other sources of health-related information
				Visibility of reputation, including via franchises, "report cards," and sharing of experience between neighbors	
				Inter-relationship with global organizations and institutions	

The devil is then in the detail. The evolution of market actors depends strongly on the specific interactions between direct financial incentives and the countervailing influences of reputation and a variety of regulatory and accountability arrangements. Successful management of institutional change involves the construction of new rules and widely shared understandings of what constitutes legitimate and illegitimate behavior. A recent paper on the factors that influence the investment climate in developing countries by Moore and Schmitz (2008) contrasts an idealized view that advocates the construction of highly organized institutional arrangements as a prerequisite to economic growth with a messier reality within which private actors create informal arrangements to facilitate trust-based market transactions and governments establish mutually beneficial relationships with private actors to create some degree of market order. They argue that the political economy strongly influences the degree to which these arrangements lead to economic growth and the eventual creation of rules-based market order, or to a descent into low-efficiency "crony capitalism."

Similar factors influence the trajectory of health-related markets in which informal arrangements and a variety of partnerships between governments and private actors play important roles. In some circumstances, the state is unlikely to do more than prevent very dangerous practices such as the sale of counterfeit drugs, leaving local actors to create informal arrangements to bring some order to health-related markets. These arrangements are unlikely to be efficient except with regard to very simple goods and services. In other circumstances, the state and/or other actors play a leadership role in a process that can eventually lead to a rules-based regulatory system. Where state regulatory behavior is not functional, it may be possible to create alternative institutions that can improve quality but not in a manner that is economic in the short run. These changes are likely to demand philanthropic/donor investments that will see the new institution through the period in which it is gaining recognition in the market of health consumers.

Countries face a major challenge in managing a transition from a situation of largely chaotic and inefficient health-related markets to more ordered market systems underpinned by some form of social contract. This will involve experimentation and learning by a number of actors and the gradual development of appropriate rules, behavioral norms, and mutual expectations. The Chinese use a compelling metaphor to describe their management of multiple transitions<sup>15</sup> as "crossing the river while feeling for the stones." This captures the iterative nature of a process that is driven by local innovation and adaptation and where a legal and regulatory framework is evolving to incorporate lessons from local innovations that have worked well and in response to scandals and major negative outcomes. It is much too early to assess the success of China's efforts to improve the performance of its health system. And there is lots of room for debate about the applicability of this approach to countries with very different administrative and political systems. Nonetheless, this metaphor encapsulates an important message about the management of the kind of complex change processes that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> China is experiencing the following rapid transitions: transformation from a command economy to a market economy, rapid urbanization and industrialization, demographic change, epidemiological change, and major changes in access to all kinds of information.

many countries need to manage in their health-related markets. The following section describes recent thinking about the role of monitoring and evaluation in structuring a learning approach to the institution building.

# 6. Learning Approaches to Institution Building

A recent study by Peters and colleagues (2008) reviewed the factors associated with successful implementation of strategies to improve health services delivery in low- and middle-income countries. This section draws on that study and considers the lessons for innovations in health markets. Throughout this report, we have emphasized the need to understand these markets, highlighting the complex and multifaceted relationships between a range of actors. Such knowledge is a necessary though not sufficient prerequisite for promoting effective collaboration and communication between these actors. But its acquisition and use often pose serious challenges, particularly if the purpose is to engage and benefit the poor, who often have little voice or access to knowledge. Here we focus on the design and application of learning approaches that can help to overcome those challenges.

There are many practical reasons to focus on learning approaches as a means to improve provider performance. As described above, one major motivation is to overcome the information asymmetries that are inherent in health sector markets, so as to change or reinforce the rules of the game, and develop new social contracts. Chambers (1997) advocates the use of participatory learning approaches as a means to empower vulnerable groups, who are most likely to suffer from an existing institutional regime—the poor are often among these vulnerable groups. Senge (1994) argues more generally that large and complex organizations need to become "learning organizations" to succeed over the medium and long term. Similar arguments have been made in the health care field to rationalize continuous quality improvement and related management approaches for improving the performance of organizations (McLaughlin and Kaluzny 2006; NIST 2008). If provider performance can be defined, in part, by providers' ability to meet the needs of the poor, then learning approaches need to be oriented toward those interests.

There is a growing consensus that traditional approaches derived from project-oriented monitoring and evaluation often do not deliver the systematic learning essential for determining not simply what types of innovation succeed or fail, but why and under what conditions those outcomes are more or less likely and for which stakeholders. Partly this is because they tend to adopt a very linear view of the learning process involving the following:

- Intervention formulation—planned activities, targeted objectives
- Intervention implementation—monitoring, management
- Intervention outcomes—evaluation

- Evidence-based learning—intervention design revised
- Impact evaluation

In the real world, intervention formulation and implementation are often inextricably combined, and crucial decisions are often taken by minor actors far removed from the original designers. Unpredicted effects are the rule rather than the exception. The expectation that "All other things are equal" almost never occurs, and context (location, population, institutions) is usually highly relevant. Predetermined indicators and targets may be useful if that context is well understood, but more often there is a need for much greater flexibility both in the types of information used and the modes of production. Many in the broader evaluation community have responded to this challenge. In a recent article, Stern (2008), editor of the journal *Evaluation*, highlighted an increasing focus on "theory-based approaches and a renewed interest in methods and the nature of evidence" (often identified with the "Realist" approach); a move away from simply assessing performance; the need to "synthesize and achieve coherence between sometimes incompatible evaluation objectives and questions"; the need for ever closer "engagement with civil society-including communities, the private sector and public service usersto identify acceptable ways of managing public initiatives and mobilize consent"; and the requirement to move beyond single evaluations to "synthesis reviews and metaanalyses." However, it is as yet far from clear what new methodologies and methods might be required to meet these objectives.

As an initial step, building on the work of learning approaches in development (Brinkerhoff and Ingle 1989; Bond and Hulme 1999), we propose a conceptual framework that recognizes key market players and institutions and focuses on the concrete activities they can undertake (Figure 3). This framework is not a reflection of how public institutions may have been designed (e.g., with assumptions about Weberian motivations) or how they currently operate (e.g., depending on street-level bureaucrats or front-line staff who use their discretion in implementing central policies) (Lipsky 1980). Nor is it limited to learning processes within private organizations or civil society organizations. Rather, this is an action-oriented framework that builds on all these experiences.





Source: Adapted from Bond and Hulme 1999.

The framework is intended to be a flexible guide to different types of learning process, and its application is expected to vary considerably based on local market conditions. At different stages in the design and implementation of strategies to improve the provision of health-related goods and services, a variety of actors will play important roles. Consumer organizations may be directly involved in problem solving, resource mobilization, and monitoring. Yet, consumer organizations do not necessarily represent the interests of the poor (Peters et al. 2004), which may lead to continued negotiations of formal and informal rules between their stakeholders and the organization. The interests of consumer organizations may also be in conflict with providers or other key players, which may result in providers being less forthcoming with information, or less willing to collaborate. Service provider organizations will work best if they are able to identify and retain qualified and motivated staff, communicate effectively across organizations, and use professional facilitation and advice in targeted ways (as distinct from the tendency in many development agencies, which see technical assistance as a driving force for change). Critical institutional support includes government policies that encourage local participation and innovation by service providers, using permanent and local

organizations for administration and regulatory functions, and a willingness and ability to reorganize and refocus these institutions as needs are identified.

A common problem in the health sector in developing countries is limited capacity for implementation of strategies. Trying to find the right fit between intervention goals, the expectations of beneficiaries or customers, and the capabilities of implementing organizations, governments, and communities is an ongoing challenge. We propose that part of the solution involves continually questioning capacity constraints, and being aware of the effects on other market players. Do the constraints lie in the lack of specific human skills, infrastructure, or management systems that organizations need to perform their work, or is there a more important problem in the setting and enforcing of rules across organizations, or in communicating information between different actors? If the constraints lie within a key organization, such as a service provider or regulatory agency, radical reorganization is often considered, even though the costs to morale and productivity can be substantial. Can such problems be addressed by more subtle changes that minimize these costs while better aligning responsibilities, authorities, resources, and accountabilities with the objectives and tasks of the organization?

Knowing when the pace of change is outstripping the ability of organizations to deliver quality services effectively requires intelligence gathering and processing with both implementers and service beneficiaries. Simply asking which units within an organization appear to be performing well and which do not may provide early warning signs. Although any well-functioning organization will try to monitor the performance of its own constituent units, government regulatory agencies are traditionally seen as having the main role in assessing performance across organizations. Yet, in health market systems, the leading players in assessment and in setting rules on provider performance may also include consumer groups, research agencies, the media, professional bodies, or insurance companies. Whatever the origin of information concerning provider performance, it is important to consider the roles of other market players and their responses to that information.

# Processes that encourage learning and good decision making

A range of existing tools can be applied to reinforce iterative learning that links implementation and planning, and encourages appropriate risk taking and promotes a forward-thinking perspective toward expansion of services that builds on what is learned. Participation in learning processes that involve other organizations involves risks, as it cannot be assumed that stakeholders will always see a benefit in their participation. A culture within organizations that accepts error may be needed, as well as trust between organizations. In the absence of trust, actors may undermine learning processes by manipulating information.

Processes that encourage learning, decision making, and action based on learning have been shown to be particularly effective in improving implementation (Peters et al. 2008). There is little evidence to suggest that specific types of organization must take a lead in driving or facilitating such processes in a given context. They tend to rely on the involvement of multiple stakeholders. A learning-based approach focused on the implementation of policy may involve some of the following processes:

- Seeking out local innovations and local innovators (in communities, health service providers, etc). People can also be encouraged to test new approaches, and not be limited to ideas generated within the health sector
- Identifying and documenting the implementation of new and existing strategies for strengthening health services, and the roles played by key stakeholders over time
- Making agreements, either formally or through informal mechanisms, that the results of innovations and other strategies will be assessed and communicated. Formal evaluations of results and lessons learned should be incorporated as part of the process of strategy development. Any such evaluation will need to recognize that different market players will tend to have different values and priorities that sometimes come into conflict. For example, a priority to meet a financial "bottom line" may lead an evaluator to a different conclusion than one focused on meeting the needs of the poor. Mechanisms to facilitate learning from successes and failures from different perspectives should be structured into any strategy.
- Finding ways to understand local institutional arrangements and markets, and to involve key actors in the innovation and learning process
- Engaging government, civil society, and professionals in the learning process—all will likely need to alter their roles
- Developing more systematic ways to understand and anticipate the outcome of different strategies and innovations—to provide better frameworks within which the learning process can be structured

# Types of question to ask in a learning strategy

Based on an extensive review of strategies that have been used to improve the performance of health workers and health service organizations, a number of key questions have been identified as associated with good learning strategies. These include the following:

• Are there positive and negative outliers in providing health services? For example, are there differences between states within a country, communities within a district, or neighborhoods within a community? Are there differences between vulnerable groups and other segments of society? Are there differences across different service delivery organizations? Differences may exist in terms of high and low performance or in population groups. Look for a range of available sources of data, including both routine health information systems and informal

mechanisms—for example, key informants or the media. Consider the way in which analysis is related to actions taken by decision makers, be they front-line providers of services, managers within a service delivery organization, senior executives or policymakers, or regulatory and membership bodies.

- What are the unintended consequences of the strategy? When implementing health interventions, most people tend to look only at the intended results, but it is also important to look at any unintended consequences, possibly well outside the narrow focus of the intervention itself.
- Does the strategy create the right incentives for critical organizations and people to work toward a common purpose? Changes in laws, regulations, leadership, macro organization changes, or economic/political shocks can radically affect the way health services are implemented. Trying to anticipate many of these shocks may be very difficult, but it may be more important to be able to recognize when they are occurring as soon as possible, and to take corrective steps. This again involves good information gathering and feedback mechanisms.

One conclusion of the proposed learning-based approach is that interventions and institutional changes should not be undertaken in isolation. One reason is to be able to identify and address the unintended consequences of any reform effort or attempt to influence markets—they are likely to affect the different players differently. Another reason is that partnerships are needed, not only to ensure sufficient scale of service provision, but to construct new social contracts and institutional arrangements within which providers are embedded. There are many learning technologies and processes that should be integral parts of any major efforts to strengthen health market systems, but it is just as important that they should involve all actors likely to influence their outcomes. If the outcomes are to benefit the poor, their participation in learning processes to influence health markets is particularly important, along with institutional arrangements that focus on achieving these benefits.

### **Appendix 1: Innovations to Improve Provider Performance**

#### By Claire Champion, Sarah Dry, and Gerald Bloom

This appendix identifies innovations shown to affect the performance of providers in meeting the needs of the poor and likely to have a major impact on health-related markets in the future. The authors faced major challenges in putting this information together. There are no definitive inventories of innovations in health-related markets and there is relatively little scientific literature on the performance of these providers. Much activity takes place outside a formal regulatory structure and is not subject to reporting requirements. Some of the most populous countries are experiencing very rapid increases in the demand for goods and services and in the growth of local companies. It is difficult to obtain information on these companies and the strategies they are formulating to capture market shares. Finally, it is impossible to generalize about a wide spectrum of low- and middle-income countries which differ in almost every way.

#### **Informal sector**

This section builds on the review by Bloom and Standing (2001) of the growing role of unorganized markets in the provision of health-related services to the poor and the reviews<sup>16</sup> by Shah, Brieger, and Peters (2008) and Cross and MacGregor (2008) of current knowledge on informal providers. It is difficult to draw a boundary around these markets. Informal providers include traditional practitioners, relatively untrained sellers of drugs, and providers of medical services and categories of health worker who provide expert services in the public sector but are not entitled to private practice, such as nurses and midwives, in some countries.

Shah and colleagues (2008) undertook a systematic review of the published evidence on interventions to address problems with dangerous practices, ineffective treatment, and unnecessary costs. The analysis is not complete and the full findings will be presented in the final draft of this report. One striking finding is the small number (88) of distinct interventions on which evidence has been published over the past 15 year, of which 49 percent were in Africa. These interventions targeted a variety of providers, including commercial medicine vendors (30 percent), traditional birth attendants (26 percent), and community health workers (30 percent). The majority of the interventions were direct training (70 percent), and a small number employed other primary strategies such as supply provision, franchise creation, branding, regulation, and so forth. Many interventions combined training and other strategies. The review of the evidence on the impact of these interventions is still under way and will be reported in the final draft of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> These reviews were co-financed by the DFID-funded Future Health Systems Consortium, and three will be published as Future Health Systems Working Papers.

this report. Their preliminary conclusions are that training of lay health workers to play a role in the formal health system can be effective in extending access to health services. Also, measures to improve the knowledge of drug sellers can improve the quality of prescriptions. However, training alone seems not to be adequate to ensure appropriate use of drugs, if not combined with measures to design incentives that do not encourage overuse of inappropriate drugs.

Cross and Macgregor (2008) point out the wide variety of people offering health-related goods and services and the difficulty in defining who is an informal provider. They emphasize the degree to which they work within a social context that influences their relationship with clients. They also emphasize the need to understand their livelihood strategies and their need to attract and retain clients. They draw attention to the role of a variety of informal arrangements that influence the performance of informal providers, including associations. They point out that associations often play a dual role of excluding competitors and maximizing the benefits of members, as well as protecting the reputations of members. They also argue that the growth of markets for pharmaceuticals and the aggressive efforts of the manufacturers and distributors of these products to increase their markets strongly influence the performance of informal providers. Interventions aimed at influencing the performance of these providers that do not take these contextual factors into account are likely to have unintended consequences.

One particularly important area of concern is the interaction between the markets for health services and for pharmaceuticals. A study in Chakaria District in Bangladesh, for example, found dangerous use of certain drugs, ineffective treatment of many conditions, and substantial amounts of unnecessary drugs. The study explored a number of reasons for these outcomes. One important finding was the role of the wholesalers of drugs. The study team found that there had been a very large increase in the number of people selling drugs to informal providers. These people had powerful incentives to promote the use of expensive products and may have influenced prescription behavior. A similar study in Nigeria also emphasized the importance of the flows of information on appropriate use of drugs as well as the structure and incentives associated with the wholesale network.

#### Innovations in the organized sector

This section presents the findings of an inventory of innovations in the organized sector compiled by Claire Champion. It is largely based on several years of participating in networking meetings and undertaking field work with social entrepreneurs and international organizations that provide technical assistance to the private health sector, supplemented with information from the Web sites of umbrella and implementing organizations.<sup>17</sup> Although every effort has been made to be comprehensive, the inventory

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> The Nextbillion.net platform (www.nextbillion.net/blogs/topic/health) brings together social entrepreneurs, business leaders, NGOs, policymakers, and academics to exchange information about innovative business models. It has published a number of case studies in health. Dominic Montagu, of the Global Health Group at UCSF, has developed a list of private sector initiatives

is biased in favor of interventions supported by donor agencies, those inspired by developed country experiences and imported by developing markets, and models initiated by well-established local organizations. Those undertaken by private companies and local actors are likely to be greatly underrepresented. It is difficult to assess the relative importance of these different sources of institutional innovation.

The models presented in the inventory show common trends, but they differ greatly in their missions, forms, funding sources, and implementing mechanisms. It can be misleading to use an ideal-type categorization, such as "social franchising" adapted from advanced market economies, to describe an organizational arrangement in a very different context. We have tried to avoid misleading simplification.

Innovations are taking place at all levels of care from community-based services<sup>18</sup> to specialty hospital care.<sup>19</sup> Some organizations focus on one level of care and refer patients to the public or private sectors. Others provide two or more levels of care with referral mechanisms.<sup>20</sup> These organizations cover a large spectrum of health services. Some address family planning or HIV/AIDS and TB needs, whereas others offer a broader approach such as meeting essential drugs needs. Innovations have also taken place in the laboratories and diagnostic services industry.<sup>21</sup>

The self-defined mission of organizations include nonprofit, commercial, and faith-based. Whereas the commercial for-profit model has a clear mandate for financial sustainability, nonprofit status is not a clear indication of the mission or financial objectives of the organization. Some nonprofit organizations have introduced an up-front objective to reach financial sustainability within the first few years of their activities, and others anticipate a need for subsidies for a very long time.<sup>22</sup> Little is known about the degree to which different sources of finance affect the values and management of an organization. There is a proliferation of bottom-up and commercial models in Asia. This is most likely due to the better entrepreneurship environment of the region as well as growing and recognized market opportunities. Africa seems to favor imported models such as franchises as well as faith-based initiatives. However, this is not the case in all countries (e.g., Nigeria or South Africa). In addition, the inventory might not provide adequate representation of volume and types of initiatives per country and per continent. One

<sup>(</sup>www.ps4h.org/Private\_Sector\_Health/Resources.html). The IFC, in collaboration with the Gates Foundation, commissioned an overview of health care markets in Africa (IFC 2007). Ashoka is one of the leading networks of social entrepreneurs. Finally, USAID has funded PSP-One, a program for private sector development in health that focuses on reproductive health services (www.psp-one.com).

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> E.g., Business for Health in Ghana, Living Goods in Uganda, Janani in India, or BRAC in Bangladesh.
<sup>19</sup> E.g., Aravind and Narayana Hrudayala in India.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> For example, ProSalud provides primary, secondary, and tertiary services to its patients, ranging from community outreach activities to services provided through their referral hospitals. The CFWshops franchise has two levels of care: the outlets run by a trained community health worker and the small clinics run by a nurse. Referral mechanisms have been put in place from the outlets to the clinics.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> E.g., Bio24 in Senegal and Radmed Diagnostic Center in Nigeria.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> This is the case, for example, for Business for Health, Living Goods, or CareShops. ProSalud has a cost recovery of 98 percent (Discussion with Carlos Cuellar, Abt Associates).

noticeable trend, however, is that most for-profit ventures target an urban market.<sup>23</sup> A few recent initiatives have tried to target rural areas with full cost-recovery targets,<sup>24</sup> but many recognize the challenge of working in rural areas because of lower population density and the higher cost of monitoring and controlling quality.

Innovations have a number of sources. Some are the results of local or international entrepreneurs spotting a commercial and social opportunity.<sup>25</sup> Existing companies have also looked into opportunities to extend their outreach to lower income populations and create their own distribution systems.<sup>26</sup> Some health franchising models are a direct extension of previous social marketing activities, in which a franchising agreement has been signed with distribution outlets to increase incentives for quality.<sup>27</sup> Other initiatives are the result of independent health providers looking at improving their work efficiency and quality and deciding to create their own association or network.<sup>28</sup> Lastly, the faithbased organizations provide services out of their religious mandate and fill the needs unmet by the public sector.

We identified three types of quality control mechanism: a mix of management incentives and strict monitoring, a contractual approach with a branded franchise, and an accreditation mechanism. In the accreditation model, quality control is outsourced to the local authority,<sup>29</sup> while franchises internalize quality control. Franchisees are motivated to abide by the law of the franchise so that they can remain part of the franchise and benefit from its advantages (e.g., brand recognition, quality and affordable drugs, training, and professional network). In some franchises, franchisees are allowed to provide additional services that do not fall under the franchise rules,<sup>30</sup> while in others the franchisees are only authorized to provide a limited list of services and products.<sup>31</sup> Other organizations use a mix of management incentives and strict monitoring and quality control activities. They set up standardized procedures and guidelines and create a strong corporate culture for quality improvement.<sup>32</sup>

<sup>30</sup> E.g., Greenstar and Blue Star.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> E.g., Farmacias Similares pharmacies and ProSalud are located in poor neighborhoods in urban and periurban areas.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Business for Health in Ghana, Living Goods in Uganda, and the Shatki entrepreneurs in India.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> The CFWshops franchise was started by the Health Store Foundation, funded by a U.S. lawyer.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> In India, Hindustan Liver Ltd. partnered with self-help groups to start a network of women entrepreneurs to distribute their products in rural areas. Farmacias Similares was set up by a generic drug manufacturer to expand sales coverage to low-income areas through quality services. The network now comprises 3,000 pharmacies throughout Mexico.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> This has led the Ghana Social Marketing Foundation, after years of successful family planning and social marketing activities, to create the CareShop franchise, a network of 270 licensed chemical sellers recruited. Population Services International (PSI) and Marie Stopes International started several franchise initiatives for the same reasons (e.g., PSI Top Réseau Network and PSI Sun Quality Health).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> K-MET started as an association of for-profit medical practitioners from peri-urban and rural areas in Kenya.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> An example of accreditation scheme is the ADDOShops initiative in Tanzania. Accreditation to the ADDOs network is granted to those who meet and keep predefined standards of quality.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> E.g., CFWshops and CareShops.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> The success factors of ProSalud and Aravind, for example, lie in their high-quality delivery system, including standardization and strict quality control.

Brand and reputation are generally of prime importance. The asymmetry of information between the providers and their patients creates the need for patients to base their decision on reputation and signs they can recognize. Many of the organizations have developed large marketing and community outreach activities in order to enhance trust between the patients and the organization.<sup>33</sup>

There is a lot of evidence of rapid institutional development in the pharmaceutical sector. Both China and India have large firms that are becoming important global suppliers of pharmaceutical products. The development of the wholesale and retail markets has been slower, and there are serious problems with cost and quality in both countries. One important development in India has been the rapid creation of retail pharmacy chains. A review for this report identified seven which have announced plans to establish 8,000 shops over the next few years. Most shops are in urban areas, but there are also plans to establish low-cost rural pharmacies. These chains have involved a number of different actors, including a large pharmaceutical manufacturer, a U.S.-based pharmacy franchise, a large hospital chain, and a network of rural shops. It is difficult to predict the ultimate alignments that might emerge between these actors, or how this will affect the quality of drugs supplied and the kind of advice provided on prescriptions. This raises important challenges concerning regulation and consumer information. It is conceivable that India will become an important source of institutional innovation in retail pharmacy.

Many of those innovations are still at a pilot stage. There is very little information on their performance. We reviewed the available evidence in peer-reviewed journals and grey literature identified through a search of PubMed, Popline, and Google and visits to Web sites of umbrella organizations. Most reports are of case studies. Although they do not provide formal and rigorous evaluations, they are an important source of information. We found a few general reviews of evidence on private for-profit sector interventions (HLSP 2004; Mills et al. 2002; Patouillard et al. 2007; Prata et al. 2005). Other reviews focus on family planning (WHO 2007; Peters et al. 2004; PSP-One 2006), accreditation and certification (Shawn 2001), or on faith-based organizations (Reinikka and Svensson 2003). All these reviews mention the lack of systematic evidence on impact and the need for rigorous evaluations. Most studies concern highly subsidized models such as social franchises and models that focus on family planning and reproductive health services. Three main outcomes have been studied: client satisfaction, quality of services, and access by the poor. The first has been assessed in the majority of the studies, but very few studies measure quality of services and access to the poor. We could not find any evaluation on population health outcome or on the macroeconomic impact of those innovations.

Franchising models have been found to increase clients' satisfaction and perceived quality and have tended to lead to an increase in service use (Agha et al. 2007; PSI 2007, Plautz et al. 2003; Stephensen et al. 2004). The few studies that explored objective

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> E.g., Aravind organizes community outreach activities to increase awareness about its services and build trust. PSI initiates media campaigns to promote its franchise brands. Farmacias Similares have built a strong image of quality around the person of Dr. Simi and his motto "Lo mismo pero más barato" (the same but cheaper).

measures of quality had mixed results. Impact varies within a same organization with important differences between locations and across services and chosen criteria to measure quality (PSI 2007; Prata et al. 2005). When Stephensen and colleagues (2004) assessed family franchises in India (Janani), Pakistan (Greenstar and Green Key), and Ethiopia (Biruh Tesfa, Ray of Hope), they found an increased volume of services but did not find any association with reproductive health outcome.

The very few studies that assess access by the poor show mixed results. A study by Montagu et al (2005) in Kenya concluded that the K-MET network did not increase inequalities in access to health services in rural areas. Hennink and Clements (2004) showed that even if the services are offered in poor neighborhoods in Pakistan, "users of the services are not the urban poor themselves but select sub-groups of the local population." Several papers outline the trade-off between serving the poor, offering quality services, and making a profit (PSP-One 2006; Lonnroth 2007). Patouillard and colleagues (2007) emphasize the need to assess the impact of interventions on the poor.

A review of accreditation schemes by Shawn (2001) found that they seem to work well in middle- and high-income countries but have shown few results in low-income countries. However, an evaluation of a network of accredited drug dispensing outlets in Tanzania showed a major decrease in the availability of unregistered drugs in the intervention group, suggesting an increase in drug quality (Sigonda-Ndomondo et al. 2003).

Another strategy that builds on existing structures has been the efforts by associations of nurses or midwives in Central and Eastern Africa to enable their members to practice privately. In many of these countries, the nurses have established a powerful position in the public sector but have been excluded from private practice. More recently, these restrictions have been removed, but institutional arrangements to support their establishment of a practice and build their reputations are not well developed (Rolfe et al. 2008).

Another source of legitimacy in many countries is the many different faith communities. Reinikka and Svensson (2003) found that faith-based hospitals provided higher quality health services at a lower cost in Uganda. Studies have demonstrated the great importance of networks associated with a religious denomination in building trust in many parts of Africa. A variety of health-related initiatives have built on this social capital. One example is the community health insurance schemes that have been linked to a church hospital or the church hierarchy. Another is the reputation that church hospitals tend to have for competence and ethical behavior. In fact, studies have shown a considerable amount of variation in the performance of different church hospitals (Tibandebage and Mackintosh 2005), depending on local relationships. Nonetheless, it would appear that the identification of a hospital with a well-known religious denomination tends to enhance its reputation (Leonard 2002).

# **Appendix 2: Provider Performance and Information and Communication Technologies**

# By Henry Lucas, with research assistance from Sarah Dry

There has been much discussion of the role that recent advances in information and communication technologies (ICTs) can play in improving health provider performance, though as yet there seems to be little reliable, independently verified evidence to support the claims of those who initially viewed the new ICTs as offering "a revolution in global healthcare management" (Séror 2001, p. 1). In particular, limited systematic attention has been given to the application of ICTs by private providers in developing countries, with most of the international agencies concerned with these issues tending to focus on large-scale public sector innovations (e.g., Chetley 2006; WHO 2006).

One established requirement for the successful implementation of innovations in the private sector is a receptive "technological system" (Stewart 1977), where required inputs are readily available and delivered outputs satisfy existing demands. One reason why some specific developments in ICT have had such a major impact is that they addressed long-felt and well-understood needs. To take an obvious example, small businesses, including those in the health sector, have probably always recognized the value of being able to communicate reliably and in a timely fashion with both suppliers and customers. The arrival of the mobile telephone addressed this specific issue to an extent previously unimaginable, allowing instant communication even in some of the most remote and least developed areas. It has similarly been long understood that maintaining current information on stocks, customers, activities, and cash flows was enormously valuable in making good management decisions. Again, the development of relatively inexpensive, easy-to-use personal computers simply made it possible for such activities to be undertaken much more efficiently and reliably within existing management environments. ICT capital equipment purchases could be justified in terms of improved performance of existing tasks. Once acquired, its inherent flexibility encouraged more innovative applications.

Such low-key, relatively uncomplicated applications have probably spread rapidly within the health sector as elsewhere, but most go unreported and unremarked (Kaplan 2006). They tend to emerge into public awareness only if they are taken up by the specialist media, donor agencies, or curious academics. Two such examples originate from South Africa. On Cue, a company established by a TB specialist, uses a simple computerized telephone system to send text messages reminding patients to take medication at predetermined times.<sup>34</sup> The Cell-Life project (Khan 2004) is supported by the mobile telephone company Vodacom. It involves the use of mobile telephones by a team of locally recruited counselors to monitor the treatment and health status of around 800 HIV patients. Health care staff at an HIV/AIDS clinic can access this information via a central database and intervene if problems arise. Similarly, paramedics and community volunteers attached to the Bombay Leprosy Project have been provided with mobile

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> See www.bridges.org/publications/11.

phones and pagers to link patients with clinic doctors, for example, to reach rapid decisions on emergency treatment.<sup>35</sup>

On a larger scale, the Health Information and Service call center provided to mobile telephone subscribers by GrameenPhone in Bangladesh (GrameenPhone 2006) is said to be widely used by informal health providers when they have doubts about a diagnosis or treatment. Voxiva, a communications company that has pioneered the use of information systems based around mobile telephones, has established a number of regional health networks. The Health Watch disease surveillance project in Tamil Nadu<sup>36</sup> was set up following the tsunami disaster in 2004, and a system whereby rural healthcare providers use mobile telephones to provide routine assessment data on high-risk pregnancies to centrally based senior staff<sup>37</sup> is operating in the Ucayali region of Peru.

Reliable information on the use of computer-based management systems by health providers in developing countries is even scarcer than that on mobile telephone applications. However, the importance of a receptive environment is well illustrated by recent reviews of two broadly comparable innovatory exercises in Ghana and Mexico by the World Resources Institute (WRI). The retail pharmacy chain CareShop was established by a for-profit subsidiary of the Ghana Social Marketing Foundation (GSMF) in 2002 (Segrè and Tran 2008). It is a franchise of licensed retailers of over-the-counter drugs, operating under GSMF guidelines that are intended to improve the quality, accessibility, and affordability of essential medicines. When a donation of 100 new computers was received, they were allocated over time to franchisees on the basis of their performance. However, the great majority were never used, and at the time of the WRI review they were typically either not in working order or not connected to an electricity supply. Their owners were theoretically interested in using the computers to record sales data but had been deterred by practical difficulties or cost implications. They apparently valued the computers highly but only as symbols that they could put on display to indicate the success of their business.

On the other hand, the Mexican pharmacy franchise Mi Farmacita Nacional was said to have fully integrated computerized patient records and inventory control into its management processes (Coronado, Krettecos, and Lu 2007). Though Mi Farmacita is a fully for-profit company, it has adopted a social entrepreneurship model similar to that of CareShop, aiming to provide essential drugs and health services to low-income populations. Each franchisee is responsible for hiring a relatively inexperienced though qualified doctor. Each time these doctors diagnose and write a prescription, details are entered into a centralized computer system via a terminal located in the facility, generating the data required for monitoring professional performance. The computer is also used for inventory management, allowing franchisees to monitor their stocks and place orders. The associated sales database can be accessed across the franchise chain, and franchisees are encouraged to compare product sales and prices to promote competition.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> See www.edc.org/GLG/gkd/Sep\_2001/0032.html.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> See www.voxiva.net/tamil.asp.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> See www.voxiva.com/nacer.asp.

First Care<sup>38</sup> is a health care initiative by Rural Technology and Business Incubator (RTBI), a society set up by the Indian Institute of Technology to promote technologybased business ventures in rural areas. It aims to create a network of trained and accredited primary care providers by working with "rural medical practitioners," informal private providers who typically operate as solo practices in rural communities. They form the largest cadre of private health providers in rural India and are by far the most popular source of care for the rural poor. First Care regards ICT as absolutely central to its project. First Care plans to link clinics with Internet- and mobile-telephone-enabled kiosks that will provide access both to distance leaning materials and to physicians and hospitals that are willing to offer advice, laboratory testing, and referral support. First Care also intends to introduce personal-computer- and mobile-phone-based record keeping systems that will allow quantity and quality monitoring of services. At present, just one pilot activity is under way with a small group of rural medical practitioners in a rural area of Tamil Nadu.

An alternative approach to rural health care in India, deliberately bypassing informal providers, is being piloted by Drishtee,<sup>39</sup> a for-profit franchise organization that aims to use ICT to promote entrepreneurship in rural areas. They have established a network of around 1,000 kiosks across six states, with each kiosk having a catchment population of around 1,200 households. They were initially focused on providing access to a range of key information sources-for example, government records and commodity prices-and assisting applications for licenses, certificates, and benefits. They have also set up a range of training courses, particularly in computer literacy and spoken English. In 2006, working with Microsoft India (Microsoft 2007), they set up kiosk cooperatives in a small number of villages in the Madhubani district, one of the poorest in Bihar state, to provide video-conferencing facilities that allow diagnosis and prescription by doctors in an NGO health center in the capital, Patna. This involves the use of a recently developed remote diagnostics unit that captures blood pressure, heart and lung sounds, oxygen saturation, temperature, and pulse rate. The health center maintains computerized patient records for those using the kiosk and has links to a referral hospital that can undertake laboratory tests and provide a referral service. The kiosks can also be used to arrange purchase of prescribed drugs from an accredited pharmacy.

A third variant on this theme is currently being piloted in Pakistan. Sehat First, a joint venture between d.o.t.z. Technologies (a social enterprise) and the Acumen Fund (a nonprofit venture capital fund), has set up ICT-based health centers in five locations in Bin Qasim Town in the southeastern part of Karachi. The first started to receive patients in April 2008,<sup>40</sup> and the ambition is to establish 500 centers across Pakistan by 2012. Again, the model is based on franchised health centers which in this case incorporate a multipurpose tele-center, pharmacy, and general store, with the aim of ensuring financial viability. They are targeted at areas with very limited formal health services and aim to provide basic care, pharmaceutics, and a similar tele-consultancy service to that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> See www.rtbi.in/home1.html.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> See www.drishtee.com.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> See www.sehatfirst.com/#/objectives/4527966722.

envisaged by Drishtee. Support for these services is provided by partnership agreements with Aga Khan Medical Services and Unilever Pakistan.

As the above examples show, the general franchise model can take a variety of forms. One key dimension of this flexibility is the degree to which they are centrally directed and regulated. ICTs have greatly extended the possibilities for both centralization and decentralization. The availability of reliable communications and a stand-alone computer in each facility has the potential to increase the ability of local managers to be self-reliant—for example, maintaining their own supplier, customer, and inventory databases, and keeping track of their own sales and finances. On the other hand, the same equipment can allow a central authority to undertake detailed monitoring of their activities. An extreme example of the latter, though in a retail chain rather than a franchise operation, is provided by an independent evaluation study covering the period 1998–1999 of what was then the largest and most widely dispersed chain of private urban clinics in South Africa (Palmer et al. 2003).

The clinics offered ambulatory care to patients who either paid a flat fee or were members of an affiliated insurance scheme. The aim was to provide an attractive and trustworthy service, including on-site availability of doctors, laboratory tests, X-ray, ultrasound, and drugs, at a price that would allow access to a wide range of urban workers, not only those in well-paid employment. The average cost per visit was around 42 rand (US\$7). It would appear that the ICT system was a key factor in holding down costs and hence allowing the company to adopt this pricing policy. Each clinic was linked to the head office of the company over a computer network that handled both clinical and management information. On entry, a patient would initially be seen by a health care worker who entered personal details and symptoms into the computer network. This could access a database of more than 2,000 algorithms for diagnosis and treatment derived from the Cochran Collaboration Reviews. The reliability of this database was central to the overall operation, given that computer-based diagnosis is not a trivial undertaking (Peters et al. 2006). Three outcomes were then possible. The health worker might use the information system to arrive at a diagnosis and recommended treatment; pass the patient on to a clinic nurse; or tell the patient that the clinic was not able to assist him or her. A similar procedure would take place for patients referred to the nurse, except that in these cases an onward referral would be to a clinic doctor.

Health care workers, nurses, and doctors were all expected to follow recommended treatment protocols, and decisions to act otherwise would be systematically recorded and reviewed by clinic and central managers. Any drugs provided from the clinic dispensary would be similarly compared with those implied by the recommended protocol and all deviations identified. The system thus allowed not only for routine clinical audits but detailed daily reports on revenues and costs relating to each patient visit. Overall, controlling access to clinic doctors, use of expert systems, and strict adherence to protocols enabled staff costs to be less than half and drug costs around one-quarter those at comparable private general practices. The independent evaluation reported favorably on both the cost and quality of services provided.

Some might argue that the clinic chain exhibited two common characteristics of private sector engagement in service provision: "Cherry-picking" areas where treatment was relatively straightforward and profitable, leaving the public sector to deal with the rest (Pollack 2001); and de-skilling staff by requiring them to follow the dictates of expert systems (Hanlon et al. 2005). These complaints are familiar from discussions of European health care systems, as are the counter-arguments: Private provision in selected areas can "reduce the overall burden" on the public sector, allowing a focus on areas of greatest need; and services should be run in the best interests of patients, not providers. This is not the place to address these long-running debates. The key observation for the present discussion is the crucial enabling role played by the computer system in the implementation of the adopted business model and in the fine-tuning of that model in pursuit of profitability. The example suggests that ICT may sharpen the debate on public versus private provision by increasing the range of strategies open to private companies seeking to establish profitable investments in the health sector.

The model described above is crucially dependent on the use of accurate diagnostic software. Development of such software is a far from being a trivial undertaking (Peters et al. 2006). It has become a rapidly expanding area of specialization for software companies, and there are a considerable number of competing products in this market. One of the more interesting, because the intention is to distribute copies free of charge in developing countries, is NxOpinion. This was developed by the nonprofit Robertson Research Institute<sup>41</sup> in collaboration with Microsoft Research. It is a real-time diagnostic tool intended to assist the diagnosis of around five hundred illnesses and forms part of an integrated software package that also supports electronic health records and performance monitoring. Thus far, it has been piloted by missionary hospitals in the Dominican Republic and by a medical NGO, Doctors on Call for Service,<sup>42</sup> in the Democratic Republic of Congo. In 2008, the Elaj Group, which provides medical services in Egypt, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, and United Arab Emirates, signed a memorandum of understanding to distribute and promote the software, initially within its own centers and then to providers in Libya, Morocco, and Tunisia.

#### ICT and the health knowledge economy

The above discussion has focused on the deliberate use of ICT by health care providers to improve access, efficiency, or quality of services. However, these technologies have also very much changed the information environment within which providers operate. Bloom, Standing, and Lloyd (2008) suggest that health care is now best regarded as part of an emerging "knowledge economy" in which people are moving from being essentially passive recipients of care to active participants in their treatment. One key driver of this change has been an explosive growth in the volume of health-related information flows. Many who would previously have relied on the judgments of local health providers, possibly supplemented by advice from family and friends or vaguely remembered

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> See www.robertsontechnologies.net/.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> See www.docs.org/.

newspaper articles or stories broadcast by local radio or television stations, now have access to, and in some cases are directly targeted by, a vast array of competing sources of information. Over the past 20 years, an explosive growth in the number of radio and television channels, print publications, and mobile-telephone- and Internet-based services has resulted in a step-change in the range of material available and the speed with which access is possible. Health care providers who have previous found it relatively easy to dismiss the doubts of those self-diagnosing from a medical dictionary or self-treatment guide are now confronted by patients who may have instant access to thousands of apparently authoritative information sources that appear to address their specific health concerns.

This revolution has been associated with the emergence of a great variety of content providers with very different aims and incentives. In addition to a diverse range of qualified and unqualified health workers, these include public health information agencies, producers and sellers of health-related goods and services, advertising and public relations agencies, international and national NGOs, advocacy groups, and media companies seeking audiences. Some of these will offer valuable information and guidance. Others may dissuade seriously ill individuals from seeking appropriate treatment or encourage the worst fears of the worried well in order to sell them a guaranteed cure. The overwhelming majority will be subject to no external quality control procedures and have almost complete freedom to claim qualifications they do not possess, make wildly exaggerated or simply false statements as to the efficacy of treatments they recommend, invent evidence to support such statements, and even conceal their true identities or allegiances.

This rapidly changing health knowledge economy provides both opportunities and challenges. One widely accepted distinguishing characteristic of health markets is the imbalance of power between possessors of expertise and those hoping to benefit from it—the problem of information asymmetry. The new technologies can in principle redress this balance. A poor woman in a Bangladesh village can use a mobile telephone to access the GrameenPhone Healthline (GrameenPhone 2006) and ask a qualified doctor if the drugs being prescribed by a local provider will make her condition better or worse. A member of an Internet-based AIDS patient group can compare experiences with thousands of sympathetic fellow sufferers, some with professional expertise, and gain the confidence required to challenge substandard treatment. On the other hand, the capacity to communicate information faster, more often, in more attractive formats, and in a much more targeted fashion offers enormous opportunities for those who wish to exploit the technologies for maximum commercial or political advantage, irrespective of the cost to specific individuals or the population at large. Medical "quacks, charlatans, mountebanks, cranks and hucksters" (Wahlberg 2007) have been an integral part of the history of health care, probably since its inception. They have often proved both highly adaptable to changed environments and highly innovative in their use of new technologies. It is not surprising that they have enthusiastically grasped the opportunities offered by developments in ICT.

The new technologies thus raise complex challenges in terms of equity of access to health information, the quality of that information, and the trust that users can place in information providers. Mechanisms are needed that can both promote beneficial applications—for example, improving the ability for service users to make better informed choices—and limit the opportunities for misuse. They imply a need for new ways of thinking, both about the nature of regulation and the extended range of actors and modes of accessing health information and services to which that regulation should be applied. In the OECD countries, this will probably involve further development of existing institutional arrangements such as professional codes of conduct and formal regulatory regimes, which evolved partly to mediate the relationship between providers and users of expertise to mitigate the potential adverse consequences of information asymmetry. However, these are weakly developed in many developing and middleincome countries, where the combination of increasing marketization and largely unmediated access to information and services has created opportunities for harmful behavior as well as potential gains. To highlight one obvious example, health workers, drug sellers, and pharmaceuticals suppliers often have powerful incentives to encourage a costly style of medical care, involving over-medicalization of self-limiting conditions and unnecessary health expenditure. Combining those incentives with a capacity to conduct extensive media-based advertising campaigns alongside highly targeted information flows to specific provider and patient groups, or even specific individuals using computer databases, the Internet, and mobile telephones could greatly exacerbate an already extremely worrying situation.

On the other hand, the spread of relatively low-cost information and communication technologies may also contribute to addressing such issues by providing alternative forms of knowledge mediation that can be linked to effective regulatory mechanisms. It has the potential to disseminate expert knowledge and respond to requests for specific kinds of information—for instance, through Internet-linked mobile telephony—at a cost that is at least in reach of poorer populations. (By 2007, there were 250 million mobile telephone subscribers in Africa, which was also the most rapidly expanding regional market (IPS 2008).) It can enhance the agency of local health service user groups, empowering them to create their own knowledge base and take more informed decisions, perhaps in collaboration with supportive health professionals from outside their own region. Such innovations can be small-scale and relatively inexpensive-for example, blending Internet and community radio services as in the Kothmale project in Sri Lanka (James 2005) or the Nakaseke Community Multimedia Centre in Uganda (Nakaseke 2007). New institutional arrangements in health and other social sectors are also emerging to allow the use of information technology to monitor provider behavior and make information on that behavior public. An interesting example is provided by recent developments in China, where the introduction of Basic Medical Insurance schemes in urban areas (Tang and Meng 2004), and the parallel New Cooperative Medical Schemes (Mao 2006) in rural areas, have resulted in a computerized inpatient record system that, though primarily intended for accounting purposes, has considerable potential in terms of allowing local government to oversee the activities of notionally public sector but largely autonomous and market-orientated hospitals.

The new health knowledge economy reflects the increasing role of non-state actors in health systems, particularly where markets are playing an increasing part, and raises complex governance issues. Health system analysts often speak of public-private partnerships, but this language is inadequate to describe many of the institutional arrangements emerging at the interface between states, markets, and civil society. These often tend to be locally generated strategies responding to the need to establish or reestablish trust in providers of information, goods, or services. The "tele-center" or "tele-kiosk" concept provides an interesting example of the possibilities and potential pitfalls of such strategies. These are primarily small to medium scale, typically private sector franchise enterprises with donor, NGO, or government subsidies, that aim to act as community communications centers, combining telecommunications, Internet, e-mail, fax, photocopying, printing, and sometimes local radio as in the Kothmale and Nakaseke examples cited above (Fillip and Foote 2007). The idea has proved extremely popular with governments, international agencies,<sup>43</sup> social entrepreneurs,<sup>44</sup> and some private companies. Microsoft's Project Saksham has recently agreed to set up 5,000 rural kiosks in India and has suggested an eventual target of 200,000 using satellite-based broadband.45

Many of these supporting organizations have indicated that the provision of healthrelated services should be a key component. Run by managers dedicated to serving the community, and employing trustworthy and benevolent local institutions and individuals—e.g., hospitals, health NGOs, and local doctors—to mediate information flows, they might seem to provide at least a plausible route to bridging the digital divide in the health sector. However, this attractive scenario makes two key assumptions: first, that questions relating to health issues have but a single correct response on which all reputable mediators can agree; and second, that mediators will be both incorruptible and beyond the influence of local economic, social, and political pressures. In practice, hospital doctors, for example, might well use Internet resources to disparage remedies advocated by respected traditional healers or insist that people should not purchase drugs in markets run by local community leaders. They may take these positions based on considered clinical judgment, professional hubris, or commercial interest.

How would such disputes between potential mediators on health issues be conducted and resolved? Probably on the basis of local popular opinion and/or the degree of influence that the various parties can bring to bear on the tele-center management. Where governments or other donors are providing support, they too will clearly be in a position of influence but will typically not wish to be seen as micro-managing an institution explicitly identified as a local resource. The more successful the tele-center, the more it tended to lead debates on health issues, and the greater the level of trust conferred on it by local community members, the more incentive there would be for capture by one or other local elite groups. The key point is the familiar one that health knowledge has a high value—not only in commercial terms but also in terms of social, cultural, religious, and political currency—and valuable assets attract the attention of those who see

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> See www.unescap.org/icstd/applications/cec/.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> See www.grameencommunications.com/upcoming.html.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> See www.microsoft.com/india/keynote.aspx.

potential advantage in their ownership. If tele-centers were to become a serious source of health information, their governance structures should merit at least as much consideration as their technical capacity.

#### References

Abraham, J. 1995. Partial progress? The development of American and British drug regulation. In *Science, politics & the pharmaceutical industry: Controversy and drug bias in drug regulation*. London: UCL Press.

Agha, S., C. Squire, and R. Ahmed. 1997. Evaluation of the Greenstar pilot project. Population Services International, Washington DC. Accessed July 3, 2008, at www.popline.org/docs/138524.

Agha, S., and A. Balal. 2003. Monitoring the performance of a reproductive health franchise in Nepal. Country Research Study. Commercial Market Strategies. February 8. Accessed July 2, 2008, at www.cpc.unc.edu/projects/abm/Presentations3/agha/tsld001.htm.

Agha, S., M. Karim, A. Balal, and S. Sosler. 2007. The impact of reproductive health franchise on client satisfaction in rural Nepal. *Health Policy and Planning* 22:320–28.

Altenstetter, C and R. Busse. 2005. Health care form in Germany: patchwork change within established governance structures. *Journal of Health Politics and Law*. 30(1-2): 121-142

Austin, J., H. Stevenson, and J. Wei-Skillern. 2006. Social and commercial entrepreneurship: Same, different, or both? *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice* 30 (1): 1–22.

Bell, M., and K. Pavitt. 1993. Technological accumulation and industrial growth: Contrasts between developed and developing countries. *Industrial and Corporate Change* 2 (2): 157–210.

Bennett, S., B. McPake, and A. Mills. 1997. *Private health providers in developing countries*. London: Zed Press.

Bishai, D., N. Shah, D. Walker, W. Brieger, and D. Peters. 2008. Social franchising to improve quality and access in private health care in developing countries. *Harvard Health Policy Review* 9 (1) 84–197.

Bishai, D., and C. Champion. 2008. Conceptual framework of innovative service models to improve quality and access. Background paper to be published as a Future Health Systems working paper.

Bloom, G. 2005a. Private provision in its institutional context: Lessons from health. DFID Health Systems Resource Centre Issues Paper, Department for International Development, London.

———. 2005b. Health policy during China's transition to market economy. In *Comparative health policy in Asia-Pacific*, ed. R. Gauld. Open University Press.

Bloom, G., and H. Standing. 2001. Pluralism and marketisation in the health sector: Meeting health needs in contexts of social change in low- and middle-income countries. IDS Working Paper 136, Institute of Development Studies, Brighton.

——. 2008. Future health systems: Why future? Why now? *Social Science & Medicine* 66 (10): 2067–75.

Bloom, G., H. Standing, and R. Lloyd. 2008. Markets, information asymmetry and health care: Towards new social contracts. *Social Science & Medicine* 66 (10): 2076–87.

Bloom, G., H. Standing, and A. Joshi. 2008. Institutional arrangements and health service delivery in low-income countries. In *Implementing health services strategies in low and middle income countries: From evidence to learning and doing*, ed. D. H. Peters, El Seharty, B. Siadat, M. Vujivic, and K. Janovsky. Washington, DC: World Bank.

Bond, R., and D. Hulme. 1999. Process approaches to development: Theory and Sri Lankan practice. *World Development* 27 (8): 1339–58.

Bradach, J. 2003. Going to scale. Stanford Social Innovation Review 1:8-25.

Brinkerhoff, D., and M. D. Ingle. 1989. Between blueprint and process: A structured flexibility approach to development management. *Public Administration and Development* 9 (5): 487–503.

Centre for the Future State. 2005. *Signposts to more effective states*. Brighton: Institute of Development Studies.

Certo, S., and T. Miller. 2008. Social entrepreneurship: Key issues and concepts. *Business Horizons* 51 (4): 267–71.

Chakraborty, S., and A. Harding. 2002. Conducting a private health sector assessment. In *Private participation in health services handbook*, ed. A. Harding and A. Preker. Washington, DC: World Bank.

Chambers, R. 1997. *Whose reality counts? Putting the first last*. London: Intermediate Technology Publications.

Chang, Ha-Joon. 2007. Understanding the relationship between institutions and economic development—some key theoretical issues. In *Institutional change and economic development*, ed. Ha-Joon Chang. London: Anthem Press.

Chee, H. L. 2008. Ownership, control and contention: Challenges for the future of healthcare in Malaysia. *Social Science & Medicine* 66 (10): 2145–56.

Chetley, A., ed. 2006. Improving health, connecting people: The role of ICTs in the health sector of developing countries. A framework paper. InfoDev Working Paper 7, InfoDev, World Bank, Washington, DC.

Coronado, Enrique, Christina Krettecos, and Yvonne Lu. 2007. What works: Mi Farmacita Nacional. What Works Case Study, World Resources Institute, Washington, DC.

Cross, J., and H. MacGregor. 2008. Who are 'informal providers' and what do they do? Perspectives from medical anthropology. Unpublished paper. Institute of Development Studies, Brighton.

Das, J., J. Hammer, and K. Leonard. 2008. The quality of medical advice in low-income countries. *Journal of Economic Perspectives* 22 (2): 93–114.

David, P.A. 1985 Clio and the economics of QWERTY. *American Economic Review*, 75: 332-337

Dees, J., B. Anderson, and J. Wei-Skillern. 2004. Scaling social impact. *Stanford Social Innovation Review* 1:24–32.

DFID (Department for International Development). 2003. Drivers of change team. Available at

www.chronicpoverty.org/CPToolbox/PolicyInfluence\_MediaEngagement/3.1%20Power %20and%20Country%20Level%20Analysis/1-DFID\_DoC%20summary%20(DB).pdf.

DFID and SDC. 2008. A synthesis of the making markets work for the poor (M4P) approach. London: Department for International Development; Berne: Swiss Agency for Development and Cooperation.

Duncan, A., I. Sharif. P. Landell-Mills. D. Hulme, and J. Roy. 2002. Bangladesh: Supporting the drivers of pro-poor change. Report to the Department for International Development, available at

 $www.opml.co.uk/economic\_policy/development\_policy/ei453e\_banglades.html.$ 

Dussault, G. 2008. The health professions and the performance of health systems in low income countries: support or obstacle. *Social Science and Medicine* 66(10): 2088-2095

Elliot, D., A. Gibson, and R. Hitchins. 2008. Making markets work for the poor: Rationale and practice. *Enterprise Development and Microfinance* 19 (2): 101–19.

Ensor, T., and S. Weinzierl. 2006. A review of regulation in the health sector in low and middle income countries. Signposts to more effective states. Brighton: Institute of Development Studies.

Fang, J. 2008. The Chinese health care regulatory institutions in an era of transition. *Social Science & Medicine* 66 (4): 952–62.

Fang, L., and G. Bloom. 2008. Between profit and legitimacy: A case study of two successful township hospitals in rural China. Forthcoming in a collection of papers to be published by the Institute of Tropical Medicine, Antwerp.

Fillip, Barbara, and Dennis Foote. 2007. Making the connection: Scaling telecentres for development. Information Technology Applications Center (ITAC), Academy for Education Development, Washington, DC.

Fukuyama, F. 2004. *State building: Governance and world order in the twenty-first century*. London: Profile Books.

Future Health Systems. 2008. *Health seeking behaviour in Chakaria*. FHS Research Brief Bangladesh Issue 1. Available at www.futurehealthsystems.org.

Gardner, C., T. Acharya, and D. Yach. 2007. Technological and social innovation: A unifying new paradigm for global health. *Health Affairs* 26 (4): 1052–61.

Gereffi, G., J. Humphrey, and T. Sturgeon. 2005. The governance of global value chains. *Review of International Political Economy*12 (1): 78–104.

Gilson, L. 2003. Trust and the development of health care as a social institution. *Social Science & Medicine* 56 (7):1453–68.

Gordon, C. 2005. *Dead on arrival; the politics of health care in twentieth-century America*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press

GrameenPhone. 2006. GrameenPhone launches Health Information & Service. Press release. Accessed 12/01/2006 at www.grameenphone.com/index.php?id=106.

Greeley, M. 2006. Microfinance impact and the MDGs: The challenge of scaling-up. IDS Working Paper 255, Institute of Development Studies, Brighton.

Hanlon, Gerard, Tim Strangleman, Jackie Goode, Donna Luff, Alicia O'Cathain, and David Greatbatch. 2005. Knowledge, technology and nursing: The case of NHS Direct. *Human Relations* 58 (2): 147–71.

Hennink, M., and S. Clements. 2004. Impact of franchised family planning clinics in urban poor areas in Pakistan. Applications & Policy Working Paper A04/16, Southampton Statistical Sciences Research Institute, University of Southampton. Accessed July 3, 2008, at http://eprints.soton.ac.uk/12491/01/s3ri-workingpaper-a04-16.pdf.

HLSP Institute. 2004. Private sector participation in health. Accessed July 2, 2008, at www.hlspinstitute.org/projects/?mode=type&id=15043.

IFC (International Finance Corporation). 2007. *The business of health in Africa*. Washington, DC: World Bank Group, IFC Health and Education Department. Available at www.ifc.org/ifcext/healthinafrica.nsf/Content/FullReport.

IPS. 2008. Interpress Service News Agency. Accessed July 8, 2008, at http://ipsnews.net/africa/nota.asp?idnews=42944.

James, J. 2005. Technological blending in the age of the Internet: A developing country perspective. *Telecommunications Policy* 29:285–96.

Jefferys, E. 2004. Evaluating the private sector potential for franchising TB and HIV/AIDS diagnosis and care in sub-Saharan Africa. Overview report. Institute for Health Sector Development, London. Accessed July 3, 2008, at www.hlspinstitute.org/files/project/15728/JefferysFranchising04.pdf.

Joshi, A., and M. Moore. 2004. Institutionalised co-production: Unorthodox public service delivery in challenging environments. *Journal of Development Studies* 40 (4): 31–39.

Khan, T. 2004 Mobile phones keep track of HIV treatments. Science and Development Network (SciDev.Net). Retrieved 06/04/2006 from http://www.scidev.net/News/index.cfm?fuseaction=readNews&itemid=1625&language= 1.

Kaplan, Warren A. 2006. Can the ubiquitous power of mobile phones be used to improve health outcomes in developing countries? *Globalization and Health* 2:9.

Kaplinsky, R. 2008. Innovation, poverty and inequality: Cause or coincidence? A synoptic overview. Unpublished paper. The Open University, Milton Keynes.

Knowledge@Wharton. 2005. The frenetic expansion of pharmacy chains in Latin America. Wharton School at the University of Pennsylvania. Accessed December 10, 2006, at

www.wharton.universia.net/index.cfm?fa=viewfeature&id=943&language=english.

Leach, M., and I. Scoones. 2006. *The slow race: Making technology work for the poor*. London: Demos.

Leadbeater, C., and J. Wilsdon. 2007. *The atlas of ideas: How Asian innovation can benefit us all*. London: Demos. Available at www.demos.co.uk.

Leonard, K. 2000. The role of incentives in the delivery of rural health care in Cameroon. In *Africa's changing markets for health and veterinary services*, ed. D. Leonard. Basingstoke, UK: Macmillan Press.

——. 2002. When states and markets fail: Asymmetric information and the role of NGOs in African health care. *International Review of Law and Economics* 22 (1): 61–80.

———. 2007. Learning in health care: Evidence of learning about clinician quality in Tanzania. *Economic Development and Cultural Change* 55 (3): 533–55.

Lewis, N. 2006. Governance and corruption in public health care systems. Center for Global Development Working Paper 76, Center for Global Development, Washington, DC.

Lipsky, M. 1980. Street-level bureaucracy: Dilemmas of the individual in public services.

Liu, W. 2008. *KFC in China: Secret recipe for success*. Singapore: John Wiley & Sons (Asia).

Lonnroth, K., T. Aung, W. Maung, H. Kluge, and M. Uplekar. 2007. Social franchising of TB care through private GPs in Myanmar: An assessment of treatment results, access, equity and financial protection. *Health Policy and Planning* 22 (3): 156–66.

Lucas, H. 2008. Information and communications technology for future health systems in developing countries. *Social Science & Medicine* 66 (10): 2122–32.

Mackay, B. 2008. From life insurance to safer sex—reflections of a marketing man. *Social Science & Medicine* 66 (10): 2168–72.

Mackintosh, M., and M. Koivusalo. 2005. Health systems and commercialization: In search of good sense. In *Commercialization of health care*, ed. M. Mackintosh and M. Koivusalo. Basingstoke, UK: Palgrave Macmillan.

Maness, R. 1996. Incomplete contracts and the choice between vertical integration and franchising. *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization* 31:101–15.

Mao, Z. 2006. Pilot program of China's New Cooperative Medical Scheme system design and progress. United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific. Available at www.unescap.org/esid/hds/issues/index.asp.

Mashelkar, R. 2005. Nation building through science and technology: A developing world perspective. *Innovation Strategy Today* 1 (1): 16–32.

McLaughlin, C.P., and A. D. Kaluzny. 2006. *Continuous quality improvement in health care: Theory, implementations, and applications*. 3rd ed. Sudbury, MA: Jones and Bartlett Publishers.

Microsoft. 2007. Microsoft unlimited potential: The healing link. Accessed July 1, 2008, at

http://download.microsoft.com/download/6/9/f/69f8c76b-198e-4114-9c12-f0b13e4d7e4e/WP\_HealingLink.pdf.

Mills, A., R. Brugha, K. Hanson, and B. McPake. 2002. What can be done about the private health sector in low-income countries? *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* 80 (4): 325–30.

Montagu, D. 2002. Franchising of health services in low-income countries. *Health Policy* and *Planning* 17 (2): 121–30.

———. 2003. Accreditation and other external quality assessment systems for health care. DFID Health Systems Resource Centre Working Paper, Department for International Development, London.

Montagu, D., N. Prata, M. Campbell, J. Walsh, and S. Orero. 2005. Kenya: Reaching the poor through the private sector: A network model for expanding access to reproductive health services. HNP (The World Bank). May. Accessed July 2, 2008, at http://siteresources.worldbank.org/HEALTHNUTRITIONANDPOPULATION/Resource s/281627-1095698140167/KenyaMontaguFinal.pdf.

Moore, M., and H. Schmitz. 2008. Idealism, realism and the investment climate in developing countries. IDS Working Paper 307, Institute of Development Studies, Brighton.

Nakaseke. 2007. Accessed July 7, 2008, at www.nakasekecmc.blogspot.com/.

National Health Accounts. 2007. Summaries of country data. Available at www.who.int/nha/country/en.

NIST (National Institutes of Science and Technology). 2008. Baldrige National Quality Program: Health care criteria for performance excellence. Available at www.quality.nist.gov/HealthCare\_Criteria.htm.

Nicholls, A. 2006. Introduction to *Social entrepreneurship: New models of sustainable social change*, ed. A. Nicholls. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

North, D. C. 1990. *Institutions, institutional change and economic performance*. New York: Cambridge University Press.

Oladepo, O., K. Salami, B. W. Adeoye, F. Oshiname, B. Ofi, M. Oladepo, O. Ogunbemi, A. Lawal, W. R. Brieger, G. Bloom, and D. H. Peters. 2008. Malaria treatment and policy in three regions in Nigeria: The role of patent medicine vendors. Future Health Systems Working Paper 1, Future Health Systems, Baltimore, MD.

Palmer, N., A. Mills, H. Wadee, L. Gilson, and H. Schneider. 2003. A new face for private providers in developing countries: What implications for public health? *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* 81 (4): 292–97.

Patouillard, E., C. Goodman, K. Hanson, and A. Mills. 2007. Can working with the private for-profit sector improve utilization of quality health services by the poor? A systematic review of the literature. *International Journal for Equity in Health* 6:17.

Peredo, A., and M. McLean. 2006. Social entrepreneurship: A critical review of the concept. *Journal of World Business* 41:56–65.

Peters, D. H., and V. Muraleedharan. 2008. Regulating India's health services: To what end? What future? *Social Science & Medicine* 66 (10): 2133–44.

Peters, D., G. Mirchandani, and P. Hansen. 2004. Strategies for engaging the private sector in sexual and reproductive health: How effective are they? *Health Policy and Planning* 19 (Suppl. 1): i5–i21.

Peters, David H., Manish Kohli, Maya Mascarenhas, and Khrishna Rao. 2006. Can computers improve patient care by primary health workers in India? *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*. Advance Access, retrieved November 13, 2006, from http://intqhc.oxfordjournals.org/cgi/content/abstract/mzl053v1.

Peters, D. H., El Seharty, B. Siadat, M. Vujivic, and K. Janovsky, eds. 2008. *Implementing health services strategies in low and middle income countries: From evidence to learning and doing*. Washington, DC: World Bank.

Piersen, P. 2000. Increasing returns, path dependency and the study of politics. *American Political Science Review* 94: 251-167

Piersen, P. and T. Skocpol. 2002. Historical institutionalism in contemporary political science. In I. Katznelson and H.V. Milner (Eds.) *Political Science: The State of the Discipline* (pp. 693-721). New York: Norton

Plautz, A., D. Meekers, and J. Neukom. 2003. The impact of the Madagascar TOP Réseau—social marketing program on sexual behavior and use of reproductive health services. PSI Working Paper 57, Population Services International, Washington, DC.

Pollack, Allyson M. 2001. Will primary care trusts lead to US-style health care? *British Medical Journal* 322:964–67.

Prata, N., D. Montagu, and E. Jefferys. 2005. Private sector, human resources and health franchising in Africa. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* 83:274–79.

Pritchett, L., and M. Woolcock. 2004. Solutions when the solution is the problem: Arraying the disarray in development. *World Development* 32 (2): 191–212.

PSI (Population Services International). 2007. Cambodia: Family Planning TRaC-M study evaluating quality of care of among social franchising providers in Kampong Thom and Kampot. The PSI Dashboard. March. Accessed July 2, 2008, at www.psi.org/research/smr/724-cambodia\_trac-m\_fp\_smrs.pdf.

PSP-One. 2006. Private provider networks: The role of viability in expanding the supply of reproductive health and family planning services. Accessed July 3, 2008, at www.popline.org/docs/304784.

Reinikka, R., and J. Svensson. 2003. Working for God? Evaluating service delivery of religious not-for-profit health care providers in Uganda. World Bank Policy Research Working Paper 3058, World Bank, Washington, DC. Accessed July 3, 2008, at http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=636420.

Rochaix, L and D. Wilsford. 2005. State autonomy, policy paralysis: paradoxes of institutions and culture in the French health care system. *Journal of Health Politics, Policy and Law*, 30(1-2): 97-120

Rolfe, B., S. Leshabari, F. Rutta, and S. Murray. 2008. The crisis in human resources for health care and the potential of a 'retired' workforce: Case study of the independent midwifery sector in Tanzania. *Health Policy and Planning* 23 (2): 137–49.

Segrè, Joel, and Julia Tran. 2008. What works: CareShop Ghana, 2008. What Works Case Study, World Resources Institute, Washington, DC.

Senge, P. M. 1994. *The fifth discipline: The art & practice of the learning organization*. New York: Bantam Doubleday Dell Publishing Group, Inc.

Séror, Ann. 2001. The Internet, global healthcare management systems and sustainable development: Future scenarios. *Electronic Journal on Information Systems in Developing Countries* 5 (1): 1–18.

<u>Shah, N., W. Brieger and D. Peters. 2008.</u> Can interventions improve health services from informal private providers in low and middle-income countries? A comprehensive review of the literature. <u>unpublished paper</u>, Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health

Shawn, C. 2001. External assessment of health care. *British Medical Journal* 322:851–54.

Sigonda-Ndomondo, M., O. Kowero, E. Alphonce, R. Mbwasi, R. Shirima, C. Frankewicz, M. Taylor, N. Heltzer, and M. Clark. 2003. Accredited drug dispensing outlets: A novel public-private partnership. December. Management Science for Health.

Smith, E.,R. Brugha and A. Zwi. 2001. *Working with Private Sector Providers for Better Health Care*, London: Options Consultancy Limited

Smith, E. 2002. *Social franchising reproductive health services—can it work? A review of the experience*. Working Paper 5, Marie Stopes International, London.

Smith, R. 2004. Foreign direct investment and trade in health services: A review of the literature. *Social Science & Medicine* 59:2313–23.

Standing, H., and A. M. R. Chowdhury. 2008. Producing effective knowledge agents in a pluralistic environment: What future for community health workers? *Social Science & Medicine* 66 (10): 2096–107.

Stephensen, R., A. Tsui, S. Sulzbach, P. Bardsley, G. Bekele, T. Giday, R. Ahmed, G. Gopalkrishnan, and B. Feyesitan. 2004. Franchising reproductive health. *Health Services Research* 39:2053–80.

Stern, Elliot. 2008. Evaluation: Critical for whom and connected to what? *Evaluation* 14: 249–57.

Stewart, F. 1977. Technology and underdevelopment. London: Macmillan.

Tang, S., and Q. Meng. 2004. Introduction to the urban health system and review of reform initiatives. In *Health care transition in Modern China*, ed. G. Bloom and S. Tang. Aldershot, UK: Ashgate.

Thelen, K. 2003. How institutions evolve. In *Comparative historical analysis in the social sciences*, ed. J. Mahoney and D. Rueschemeyer. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Tibandebage, Paula, and Maureen Mackintosh. 2005. The market shaping of charges, trust and abuse: Health care transactions in Tanzania. *Social Science & Medicine* 61:1385–96.

Van Damme, W., K. Kober, and G. Kegels. 2008. Scaling-up antiretroviral treatment in Southern African countries with HRH shortage: How will health systems adapt? *Social Science & Medicine* 66 (10): 2108–121.

Vian, T. 2008. Review of corruption in the health sector: Theory, methods and interventions. *Health Policy and Planning* 23:83–94.

Wahlberg, Ayo. 2007. A quackery with a difference—new medical pluralism and the problem of 'dangerous practitioners' in the United Kingdom. *Social Science & Medicine* 65:2307–16.

Weerawardena, J., and G. Mort. 2006. Investigating social entrepreneurship: A multidimensional model. *Journal of World Business* 41 (1): 21–35.

Woodward, D. 2005. The GATS and trade in health services: Implications for health care in developing countries. *Review of International Political Economy* 12 (3): 511–34.

WHO (World Health Organization). 2006. eHealth tools and services: Needs of the member states. Report of the WHO Global Observatory for eHealth. Geneva: World Health Organization. Retrieved 11/05/2006 from www.who.int/kms/initiatives/tools\_and\_services\_final.pdf .

———. 2007. Public policy and franchising reproductive health: Current evidence and future directions. Guidance from a technical consultation meeting. WHO, USAID, and PSP-One. Accessed July 3, 2008, at www.who.int/reproductive-health/publications/publicpolicy\_franchising/index.html.